Registered number: NI 041551

Almac Group Limited
Annual report and financial statements

for the year ended 30 September 2022

“COMPAN!RG HOUSE

. - 13 JUN 203

BELFAST

|

-8
[=]
[72]
w
2 £JCSKX7LL*
JINI 13/06/2023 #72
COMPANIES HOUSE

/
|



Almac Group Limited

Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022

Contents

Directors and advisers

Strategic report

Directors’ report

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statemems:
Independent auditors’ report to ‘the_ members of Almac Group Limited
Gropp income statement

Group statement of comprehensive income

) G{oup and company statements of changes in equity
> : :o: A *

th ] K

Group balance sheet
. ]

.. Company balance.sheet. .-

Group cash flow statement
Company cash flow statement

Notes to the financial statements

8-11
12
13- 15

16

.20
21
22

23-69



Almac Group Limited

Directors and advisers

Directors

A D Armstrong
S Campbel)

N Harkin

G McBumey

Company secretary
E McAllister

Registered office

Almac Housc .
20 Séagoe Industrial Estatc
Craigavon

BT63 5QD

Solicitors

Carson McDowell LLP
Murroy House

4 Murray Streel

Belfast

BT] 6DN

Bankers

Danske Bank
Danegal) Square West
Belfast

BT1 6JS

Bank of America

100 Federal Street
Boston

MA 02110

United States of America

Wells Fargo Bank N.A.
Meelinghousc Busiaess Center
2240 Butler Pike

Plymouth Meeling

PA 19462

United States of America

lndependent auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statulory Audilors
Merchant Square

20-22 Wellington Place

Belfast

BT 6GE
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Straitegic report for the year ended 30 September 2022

The directors present their strategic cepari for the group and company for the year ended 30 September 2022,

Principal activities and review of the business -

Almac Group Limited s a private company limitcd by shares and is incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The
company is registered in Nonthern Ireland. The company’s regisiered office is Almac- House. 20 Seagoe industrial Estate,
Craigavon. BT61 5QD. Almac Group Limited is the parent undertaking of the largest and smallest group of which consolidaied
financial statements are prepared. '

The company is a holding company. and it also provides significant operational and other support fuactions to the Almac group
of companies. - ’

.The activities of the group extend across drug discovery. APl development and manufacture. analytical services, diagnostic
services, pharmaccutical developmenl. all areas of clinical trials suppon, interaclive response technologies and the manufacture
and commercialisation of pharmaceulical producis. The group provides world-class integrated research and development support
and an unparaleled range of services to customers, including the markei leaders, within the pharmaceutical and biotechnology
sectors. .

s
The group’s strategy is (o create shareholder value by investing for the long term and by positioning the group to be the leader
in its chosen markets, The performance for the year under review reflects further sustained progress towards achieving this long-
term objective and a1 the same time maintaining the group's strong balance sheet.

Performance and position

The group’s broﬁl before income tax for the year is £96.659.132 (2021: £80.782,394). The group's profil after income tax is
£77.570,937 (2021: £64.205.719). Net assets of the group arc £652,596,.962 (2021: £549.028.952).

- The group’s strategy of creating shareholder value through continued investment hetped deliver an improvement in profitability
in 2022. This was achieved across a range of business units within the group by a combination of revenue growth and margin
improvemen including a beuter mix of business from higher margin sevenue sireams.

The company’s loss after 1ax is £466.549 (2021: loss of £8.24§.347). Net assets of the company are £152,235.460 (2021:
£152,702,010).

The Group's sirategy of creating shareholder value through c;m.uinued ceinvestment of profits helped deliver revenue and profit
growth in 2022, although margins in some areas were negatively impacted in the shont term due to the wider economic
enviconment, and in panticular, the high levels of inflation.

Investment in Almac’s global footprint has diversificd our business. sirengthened our customer proposition and supported growth
in key segments. A large pragramme of capital invesiment is cucrently underway. further expanding our capabilities and
increasing capacity across the group.

No dividends were paid in 2022 or up uniil the date of signing the financial statements. with all ret profits being retained. thus
growing the net asset base of the group. ’

Key performance indicators (“KPIs”)

The directors consider that, given the nature of the group's operations, the KPls are growth in revenue, eamings before interest,

tax, depreciation. amostisation and research and development expenditure (“EBITDA before cesearch and development
expendilure”) and employee numbers. These are reviewed on a regular basis within the operating companies. -

Group : : ©o2022 2021
Gsowth in revenue ) +14% +9%
EBITDA before rescarch and development expenditure ’ £141.908,794 £136.650.197

Employee numbers A 6,464 5.783
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Strategic report for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

Key performance indicators (“KPIs”) {(continued)

Company ' ' 2022 2021
Net assets . 152,235,461 152.702.010

Employce numbers 468 428

: Principhl risks and uncertainties

The management of the busmcss and the execution of the group and company's stralegy are subject 1o a number of risks, The
- principal issues are discussed below:

Competition

The Group operates in competitive global markets and aims to provide excellent products and services al competitive prices.
These factors are continually reviewed in each business 1o ensure appropriate margins are being realised and that the quality of
secvice and products is of the highest standargd and consistently improving. Quatity systems are maintained according to current
good manufacturing practice and international quality standards. .

Underlying marke1 growth trends are positive, and we enjoy many longstanding customer relationships which we continue 10
nurture, To mainain our competitive position and provide capacity for future growth the group continues to invest in additional
facilities. new lechnolugies and service offerings.

Employees

The group's performance is largely depeadent on its staff and therefore the retiance on key individuals together with the
continuing ability to atiract people wilh relevant experience and skills are imporant factors in ensuring the success af the Group.
To mitigate these risks, the Group has (mining learning and devetopment programmes in place and has implemented a number
of incentive schemes linked 1o the group s performance that are designed to retain key individuals and pmvldc atiractive long-
lerm carecr opportunitics. We continue 10 evolve the group’s approach to recruitment and retention and in 2021 introduced a
new bonus scheme ensuring that all Almac ecmployees can share in (he performance of the group. Further information on
employee engagement is disclased within the group’s Section 172 statement below.

Supply chuin

Other risks faced are product availabilily and 1he fluctuation in prices of both raw materials and consumables. The security of
product supply is monitored by the businesses on an ongoing basis with rcgular revicws of such key factors as supplicr financial
sirength, product quality and service levels. The group’s continuat review of market prices provides some protecuon from the
potentially adverse impact of volatility in raw material prices.

Section 172 (1) Statement

In accardance with section 172 (1) of the Companies Act 2006 (the Act). each of the company's directors (both individually and
collectively) act in a way in which they actively promole the success of the company {or the benefit of its members as a whole
and the company’s wider role in the community. The company s directors take account of, ameng other malters. the requirements
set out in section 1 72(1) () - (F) of the Companies Act 2006 including:

the Jikely consequences of any decision in the long term:

the interests of the company’s employees:

the need (o foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers. cusiomers. and others:

the impact of the company’s operations on the community and the environment;

the desirabilily of the company maintaining a repulation for high standards of business conduct: and
the need 10 acl fairly between members of the company.

The directors of the company acknowledge that the long-term and short-term success of the company is dependent upon their
engagement with all of its stakeholders including the company’s employees, customers, supplicrs, regulators, and the wider
community. The dircctors are mindful that this engagement is required to make informed decisions at board level.

1



Almac Group Limited : 4

Strategic report for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)
Section 172 (1) Statement (conlinu;zd).

“The below table sets out the steps.taken by the directors of the company to engage with each of the aforementionced groups the
purpose / nim of that engagement, and the results and benelits of the engagements.,

Engagement with Stakeholders

Stakeholder Group

Engagement

Employees

The pgroup cumently employs
approximately 6,600  people
globally. The dircctors recognise
that people are the group's core
assct and that o provide continued
long-term success for the company
and its stakeholders. the company
must provide a happy, balanced and
safe work environmenl. We are
therefore committed Lo supporling,
developing, and rewarding people
al every step of Lheir journey with
Almac. Together, we strive 10 foster
a working environmenl and culture
thal is safe, inspiring and inclusive.

Each business unit within the Group hosts monthly Employee Forums whereby
employees can direcily raise any concerns or issues through nominated
representatives with senior managemen and the directors. Mceling minutes are
shared Group-wide .and follow up actions are allocated to the retevant
Depariments in the company.

Almac grants a range of special cecognilion awards 1o employees who
demonsirale a commiiment to the goals and vision of Almac, These awards

" include ACE Awards (“Almac Celebrates Excellence”) and Long Service

Awards.

Almac operates a group-wide bonus scheme |her€by ensuring that all Aimac
employees can share in the performance of the group and/or their operating
diviston.

In 2022 Almac issued a discretionary cost of living payment to offset rising
houschold casts duc to the globat rise in inflation.

Almac operates a policy on hybrid working across the group providing many
employees with the opportunily Lo adopi a blended approach of working from
home and coming lo work on site. .

In 2022 the group reduced working hours from 40 to 37.5 at its UK and Ireland
siles with no loss in'pay. The group also introduced a holiday buy-back scheme
so that people can purchase or sell holidays.

The directors are commilted to the healh and well-being of all the group's
cmployces. #AMHcalth is Almac’s comprehensive programme for employee
health and well-being. designed to suppon the memal, physical, and financial
health of al) employees. This programme is supported by Almac's #All4Hcalth
WellHub platform which provides access to a wide range of supporting tools
and materials. There has been an 83% engagement rate with colieagues since
the platform launched in 2019,

. The group employs a dedicated Pastoral Care Manager (o maintain a Pastoral

Care Service for employee personal wellbeing. Employees can reach out 24/7
on a confidential basis to discuss any wellbeing issues. The group's pastoral
care manager has held over 1,500 sessions with our people over the last two
years, ‘

. The directors arrange annual “fun days™ across all Almac sites in recognition

of our employee’s contribution and in acknowledgement of the importance of
positive employee relationships. Unfortunately. these were suspended due to
the Covid- 19 pandemic but will commence again in 2023. "

. Almac operales a Performance Management Programme (PMP) which

facililates direct and meaningful engapement between ecmptoyees and line
managers. Yearly training goals are set and anatysed nnnually 10 ensure
continued employee progre:smn and one-10-one communication on
developmen.
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Strategic report for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

Engagement with Stakeholders (continued)
| Stakeholder Group Enpagement
Employees (continued) {1. Almac recogniscs the importance of effective learaing and development, both in

terms of how it benefits and motivates its employees bul also easures the success
of the company as a whole. The group’s Global Training depariment partners
with the busiaess 1o drive leaming that is straiegic, measurable, and
effective. Training is delivered in.various forms, including via an internal é-
learning platform. Training is delivered (o all employees and at all levels,
including a range of bespoke leadership certification programmes for emerging
leaders. new leaders. and scnior Icaders.

12. The directors acknowledge that the group's abilily to achieve ils mission as a
company is direcily atiributable 1o the group's abilily to atracy, retain and
maotivate the best and most diverse talent. During 2022, we devetoped our DEI
advisor policy in the US. The group is currently cunning a 1 2-month pitot
scheme at one of its US sites where we have trained DE&| advisors in place
providing advice and support and 3 means for open communication. ~

Customers 1. Customer surveys are performed by the Almac Market lnsighis team 1o cnsure
that Almac's sesvice offering is constanily evolving and siays consistent with our

The group provides scrvices 1o over customers’ long-term requirements and expectations.

600 companics in the .

pharmaceutical indusiry. The 2. Almac, through dedicated Quality Assurance Depanmenis across its divisions,

directors are mindful of the need 10 facilitates on-site client audits of its global facilities to ensure that customers are

actively deliver the company’s confident that Almac performs its services in accordance with all laws and

unigue culture of delivering regulatory requirements.

exceptional service solutions for its ‘ ’

customers in a manner which is 3. Almac’s Corporale and Legal Affairs Departreat works very closcly with al

mutually benehicial whilst cusiomess (0 ensure that the key corporate policics of Almac and its customers

maintaining a-repulation for high (such as anti-bribery. modem slavery. sustainability. and environmental policies)

standards of business conduct. We are aligned. Almac engages with its customers’ Legal Teams on its customers’

are commitled to undersianding and own policies and. where appropriate. these policies ace included in underlying

exceeding our customers” needs - legal agreements with Customers.

and expectations. We build .

relationships based on integrity, 4. The directors, through engagement with Almac's Business Development and

responsiveness, and excellent Project Téams have established a detailed Project Governance Structure which

communication. ensures frequent and meaninglul engagement with cusiomers on a more
operational / project management level in respect of specific work packages and
projects. The individual project govemance structure can vary from Customer lo-
Customer however at a high levet this includes regular project meetings and KPI
reporting.

Suppliers |.  The directors recogaise that Almac’s suppliers are an extension of Almac's service

The directors of the company offering 10 ils customers. Almac has-a colwre of fostcring long term, quality-

recognise that the company’s focussed and cost-effective relationships with its suppliers. Suppliers are

supply chain is an extension of the managed by large Procurement Depaniments within each business unit, each with

company’s own business, The its own detaileg Standard Operating Procedures relevant to its service offering.

company aims to work with

suppliers that share the group’s 2. Almac carries out regular and appropriately detailed audits and inspections of its

values and the group's commitment broad range of suppliers. Where necessary. Almac works closely with suppliers to

to conducting business honestly and ensure aly remedial actions are implemented quickly.

in accordance with the highest

ethical and quality slandards. By Almac's Corporate and Legal Affairs and Quality Assurance Departments work

fostering positive and strong
relationships with the group’s
suppliers, we ensure that the
company continues 10 provide an
exemplary level of secvice 1o the
group's cuslomers.

closely with suppliers to ensure that appropriate legal and quality agrcements arc
in place with each supplier 10 clearly documem the parties’ respective rights and
obligations. including with respect to compliance with applicable laws. quality
standards and ethical business conduct.
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Stmtegic report for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

Engagement with Stakeholders (continued)

Stakeholder Group

Engagement

Community

Almac is pan of thc wider
community. and the directors are
conscious that the actions of Almac
have a bearing on the community
and environment. We are very
aware thal in striving (o achicve our
mission lo advance human health
we must also consider the overall
health of our planet and take action
to improve environmenial
performance. As parl of our
environmeatal sirategy. Almac is
committed to the resporisible
management of caergy. water and
waste and continually strives
towards improvements aligned with
committed targets.

We are proud to work wilh our
people to make a positive and
(asting contributian to aur
communbities through the
philanthropy of our sharcholder,
The McClay Foundation, and our
Stience, Technology. Engineering
and Maths (STEM) outreach
programmes.

The directors established lhe Almac Charity Commitice which |mp|emcnls the
charitable goals of Almac each year, [n addition 10 discretionary donalions to
charitics chosen by employees and directors, the Charity Commitiee alsor

E supports applications [or funding from employccs undertaking individual

fundraising activities. 1n 2022, Almac donated funds to local and international
charitics in line with the group’s charity and community policies.

Almac maintains and continually reviews environmental and sustainability
policies. Almac has underizken to meet significanl environmental goals
including a commilment to monitor and minimise single-use plastics both within
its supply chain and for internal use as far as is practicably possible. tn 2022 we
also committed to be ne1 zero by 2045 and to reducc our scope 1 and 2 emissions
by 50% by 2030 (with a base year of 2020).

In November 2022 the pgroup published s second Corporate Social
Responsibility Report. The report'is publicly available to all stakeholders on the
Almac website and is published anaually.. Our report covers our activitics undcr
the headings of People. Planet. Place and Eihics.

Regulators

The company operates in a highly
regulaled indusiry and the directors
are mindful of the sirict legal and
regulatory requirements in relation
to which the company must comply.

"Each business unit within Almac engages in an open and cooperalive way wilh

all regulalory bodies. staltory authorities and all other local and international
govemment ageacics governing its respeciive area of business. Almac is audited
and certified as required by law with the Medicines and Healltheace products
Regulatory Agency (MHRA), the U.S. Food & Drug Administration (FDA). the
Health Products Regulatory Authority (HPRA) and other agencies. Almac has
dedicated Quality Assurance Depaniments to ensure comphance and such
compliance is reported directly 1o the Board.

Future developments

The group inlends to continue ils commitment 1o research and development and capita) investment to provide innovalive
solutions and scrvices to its customers.

There arc many challenges facing the pharmaceutical and biotech markels with the introduction of new technologies and the
emergence of new global competitors. The group belicves it is well posmoncd to mect these future challenges and opportunities

wilhin this changmg marketplace.

Environment .

The group recognises its corporate rcsponsibilily to carry out ils operalions whilst ensuring that there is minimal environmental

impact. The directors’ continued aim is to comply with afl applicable cnvironmental legislation. prevent polluuon and reduce

wasle wherever possible.
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Strategic report for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)
Health and safety

The group and company are committed to achieving the hlghest practicable standards in heal(h and safety managemenl and
strives to make al) sites and offices safe environments for employees and customers alike.

This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf.

ADI o
A D Armstrong . ' .

Director
13 March 2023
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Directors’ report for the year ended 30 September 2022

The dircctors pn,sent their annual repost and the audited financial statements of the group :md the company for the year ended
30 September 2022. A review of the busincss, company information. position at the year end and future developments are
detailed in the Group sirategic repon and included in this report by cross reference.

Financial risk management

The group's operations expose i1 Lo a variety of. financial risks that include markel risk (including price risk and interesl cate
risk), foreign cxchange risk, credit risk and liquidily risk. The group has in place a risk management programme that seeks to
limit the adversc effects on the financial performance of the group by monitoring the foregoing risks and casuring that the balance
sheet streagth is maintained at at) times. '

Price risk

The group does not have a major exposure to commodity price risk asa resull of its operations and is not exposed to cquity
securities price risk as it holds no listed investments.

Interest rate risk

The group's intcrest rale risk arises from borrowings which ase a combination of overdrafis, bank borrowings. term loans, and
lease liabilities. Interest bearing assets consist of short-term bank deposits. Borrowings at variable rates expose the group o
“cash ftow inlerest rate risk. Borrowings at fixed rates expose the group 1o fair value interest rate risk. The group manages these
-risks by a mixture of variable interest satcs on overdrafis and bank borrowings. linked to Bank of England Base Rate (BOEBR)
or other published interest seference rates and fixed rate interest on the group's finance lease liabitities. The interest rates are
monitored on a regular basis with reference to movements in global interest rates and the potentia) m'lpacl upon the group s cost
of borrowing. Further commentary is provided in note 2.

.

Foreign exchange risk

Whilst the main part of the group’s revenues and expenses are denominated in UK pounds sterling. the group is exposed (o
foreign exchange risk in thé normal course of business, principally on sales in US dollars and invesiment in its overseas
operations, principally m the USA. Group policy is 1o minimisc the cxposure of overscas subsidiarics (o transaction risk by
matching focal currency income and costs. While the group has not used financial instruments to date to hedge foreign exchange
cxposure, this pasition is kept constanily under review.

Credit risk

The group has implemented policies that require appropriate credil checks on potential cusiomers before sales arc made. Credit
control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financia) position. past experience and other factors.
The amount of exposure. to individual cuslomers is subject to a limit. which is reassessed regularly by the Board of Directors
(*Board’). Credit risk also arises from cash and cash equivaleots with banks and financial instilutions. Banking arrangements are
reviewed and regularty reassessed by the board.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate
amount of commiited credii lacililies. Mnnagcmenl monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidily reserve on the basis of
expected cash flow. [n addition, the group’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows in major currencies and

considering the level of liquid asscis necessary to meet these; monitoring balaace sheet liquidity ratios against internal and
extemal cegulatory rcqunrements. and maintaining debt financing plans.

Dividends
The overriding objectives of the group are 10:

¢  Strategically devetop and* cxpand a world class Group of companies operating’in the Pharmaceutical’ and Biotech
sectors; and

®  Adhere to the healthcare objectives of the McClay Foundation. thereby.protecting the legacy of the Group's Founder,
Sir Allen McClay. and his vision for the Foundaion and its charitable purposes.

)
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Directors’ report for the year ended 30 September 2022
Dividends (continued)
Thosc objeclives arc reflected in the Stralegic Goals adopted by Almac which inctude. amongst others:

remaining owned by The McClay Foundation:
continuing Group wide innovation:
achicvement of best-in-class business offerings:
maintaining and improving profit margins: and
cultivating a desirable place 1o work.

In order 10 achieve its objectives and meet thosc strategic goals. Almac has developed ambitious capital and rescarch and
development programmes requiring significant on-going invesiment in. its trading subsidiaries and the R&D programmes they
are engaged in. That invesimenl is funded primarily by bank borrowings and the reinvestiment of all profits generated from the
Group's trading activities back into Almac and its subsidiarics. As a consequence, no dividends weie paid during the year (2021:
£nil) and the directors do aot recommend payment of a final dividend (2021: £xil).

Going concern

The group's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably posstble changes in trading pesformance, show ll)él the group
has adequate financial resources Lo meel its operational needs for at least a period of twelve months from the date of the financial
statements. Consequently. the directors have prepared these financial slatements on a going concern basis.

After making enquiries and having assessed the group's principal risks, covenant comipliance and the other relevont malters. the
directors have a reasonable expectation that the group has access to adequate financial and other resources 10 continug in
operational cxistence for the foreseeable future.

Energy and carbon reporting

In line with the 'Compimies {Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Parinerships (Energy and Carbon Report). Regulations
2018 and related accompanying govemment guidance ‘Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including Streamlined Energy
and Carbon Rcporting requirements: March 2019, the Group presents details of its carbon and energy usage.

In line with the associated regulations and gutdance, the Group has only provided consolidated reporting for companies meeting
the Companies Aci definition of a ‘large’ company and where annual energy consumption is 'greater than 40,000 kWh. In
addition. under Lbe associated regulations and guidance. reporting for foreign subsidiaries is not required.

Accordingly, the following report is based on the energy and carbon usage of Almac Group Limited, Almac Sciences Limited,
Galen Limited. Atmac Clinical Services Limited and Almac Pharma Services Limited. The activities of these companies include
the manufacturing. packing and distribution of pharmaceutical product, c(otage and logislics service and the provision of cusiom
synthesis services on a range of chemicals for customers.

2022 2021
] UK UK

Energy Consumgiton used to catculate emissioas (kWh) 90,614,316 94.050,144
Scope 1 - Emissions in metric tonnes CO2e

Total Scope 1 Emissions from activities which the group owns or controls 9,149 9956
Total Scope 2 Emissions from purchase of electricity purchased for own use ‘ . 8,198 8.897
Total gross Scope 1 & Scape 2 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e : 17,347 18.835)
Intensity Ratio 1CO2e (gross Scope | « 2)

Tonsnes CO2e / UK employee . . 54 60 .

" Scope 3 - Emissions in metric tonnes CO2e

Tota) Scope 3 Emissions from business travel by menns not owned or controlted by the group 108 100
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Directors’ report for the year ended 30 September 2022
Et;ergy and carbon reporting (continued)
Methodology

To determine emissions for the ycar ended 30 September 2022, the company used 3 methodology compliant with 1he
Geeenhouse Gas ((GHG') Protocol and incorporated the 2022 UK Government GHG convecsion factors for green-house gas
reporting. - ’ .

Gas. biomethanc and clectricity consumption was based on actual data. obtained from supplier invoices; meter readings and
online supplier portal daa dependem on the specific arrangements and circumslances of each subsidiary. Transport fuel
consumption was oblained from fuel provider reports. The collected consumplion data is then converted into grecnhouse gas
emissions associated with each aclivily using annvally updated emission factors from the UK Government.

3

Energy efficlency measures

During the year Almac continued to engage with stakeholders including customers, supplicrs and employees regarding our
commilment to carbon reduction.

The group also developed a Climate Action Plan which includes the following targets:

® Be aet 2ero by 2045:
® Reduce scope ! and 2 emissions by 50% by 2030.

Furthermore, in September 2022 Almac's UK and lretand sites implemented 1ISO 50001 which is the international standard for
energy management, ' :

Research and development activities

The group is sicongly committed to research and development activities in the areas of clinical diagnostics and drug discovery
in order to secure and enhance its market position. Research expenditure in the ycar totalled £9.427,150 (2021: £9.734.017) and
was expensed as incurred. This is stated after the deduction of £515.979 (2021: £673.300) of research and development tax
credits. A further £7,101.167 (2021: £5.190.141) of research and development 1ax credits have been deducted from other
expenses. Except for expendire relaling to development of internal systems there was no other development expenditure
sncurred during the year (2021: None).

Directors
The directors who served during the year and up to the date of signing the (inancial statements are: *
A D Armstrong
C Haybum (resigned | January 2023)
S Campbell
. N Harkin .
G McBumey (appointed 1 October 2022)

Directors’ indemnities

The Directors have the benefit of an indemnity, which is a qualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined by Section
234 of the Companies Act 2006. The indemnity was in force throughoul the last financial year and is currently in force.

Political donations

No donations for political purposes were made during the year (2021 £nil).



Almac Group Limited 1

Directors’ report for the year ended 30 September 2022
EmployeeS

The group systematically provides employees with information on matters of concern 1o them, consulting them or their
representatives regularly, so that their views can be taken into account when making decisions that are likely to affect their
interests. Employce involvement in the group is encouraged, as achieving a common awareness on the part of all employces of
the financial and cconomic factors affecting the group plays a major role in objectives.

The group is committed 1o employment policies, which foltow best practice based on equal opportunitics for all employees,
irmespective of sex, race, colour, disability or marital stalus. The group gives full and fair considcration to applications for
employment from disabled persons, having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities. Appropriate arrangements are made
for the continued employment and training, career development and promotion of disabled persons employed by the group. If

members of staff become disabled, where possible, the group continues employment, cither in the same or an alternative position
with appropriate retraining being given if necessary.

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors
So far as each of the directors in office at the date of approval of these financial statements is aware:
e there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditors are unaware; and

e they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors ar¢ aware of that information.

Independent auditors

The independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their willingness to continue in office, and a resolution
concerning their re-appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Mecting.

This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf.

ol

N Harkin
Director
4 13 March 2023
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulation. .

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have
prepared the group and the company financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted intemational accounting standards.

Under company law, directors must not approve the financia) statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the profit or loss of the group for that period. In preparing the '
financial statements, the directors are required to: ’

» sclect suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

e state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

e make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group and
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the group's
and company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the group and company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

bt (-

N Harkin
Director -
I3 March 2023
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Almac Group Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Almac Group Limited's group financial statements and company financial statements (the “financial statements”®):

e give a lrue and fair view of the state of the group's and of the company's affairs as at 30 September 2022 and of the group’s profit
and the group’s and company's cash flows for the year then ended;

« have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards as applied in acoordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual report and financial statements (the "Annual Report’), which
comprise: the Group and company balance sheets as at 30 September 2022; the Group income statement, the Group statement of
comprehensive income, the Group and company statements of changes in equity and the Group and company cash flow statement for
the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemalional Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)"} and appticable taw. Our responsibilities
under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained in&ependenl of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordanee
with these requiremems.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not idenlified any material uncertainlies relating to events or conditions that, individually
or cotlectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least
twelve months from when the financial statlements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concem basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because nol all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guaranlee .as to the group's and the
company’s ability to continue as a going concem.

Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the direclors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report. .

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises aB of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors' repor
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statemenis does not cover the other
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form
of assurance theraon.
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Almac Group Limited

Reporting on other information (continued)

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
wheiher the other information is materially inconsistent wilh the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears (o be matenally misstated. if we identify an apparent malenal inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform
procedures (o conclude whether thare is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material missiatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is @ material misstalement of this other information, we are
required to repori that fact, We have nothing o report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ repor, we aiso considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act
2006 have been included. '

Based on aur work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters
as described below. J

Strategic report and Directors' report

In our opinion, based on the wark undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Direclors’ report
for the year ended 30 September 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance wilh applicable
tegal requirements. .

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of tlie audit, we did
not identify any material misstatements in the Sirategic report and Directors' report.

Responsibilities for the ﬁnancial-statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements In accordance wilh the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal contro! as they determine is necessary to enabte the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial stalements, the directors are responsible for assassing the group's and the company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur abjectlives are to obtain teasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 3 high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements,

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regufations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to delect material misstatements in respect of irregutarities, including fraud. The exteni to which our
proceduses are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulatioris
related to product safety (including but not limiled to Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA), the U.S. Food &
Orug Administration (FDA) and the Health Producis Regutatory Authority (HPRA)), and we considered the extent to which non-compliance
might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regufations that have a direct impact on the
financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006.
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Almac Group Limited

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit (continued)

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

We evaluated management’s incenlives and opporiunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of
override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were retated to posting inappropriate journal entries to manipulate financial
results, including revenue recognition and manipulation of earnings before in}eresl. tax, depreciation and amortisation and management
bias in accounting estimates or significant judgements. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

¢ discussions with management, including consideration of know or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations
and fraud; s

« identifying and testing uausual jourmnal entries, in particutar those journal entries posted with an unusual account combination; and

¢ evaluating and, where appropriate, challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in determining significant
accounting eslimates : '

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations that are not closely refated to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher thap the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery ar intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further descriplion of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.ul/auditorsresgonsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ repon.

Use of this report

This report, includiﬁg the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving lhese opinions, accepl or assume responsibility for
any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed
by our prior consent in wriling.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:.

» we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or :

‘s certain disclasures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

« the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report ahsing from this responsibility.

gYV\W\Q Muw .
Audior)

Emma Murray (Senior Statutory

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Belfast

6 Mosrcn 2013
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Group income statement for the year ended 30 September 2022

' ' 2022 202)

. Note £ £
Continuing operations
Revenue . 4 840,456,999 735.071.164
Cost of sales (558,716,484) (474,741,571)
Gross profit 281,740,518 260.329.593
Distribution costs : . s (30,700,484) (27.271,783)
Administrative expenses ) (152,408,104) (133,180.231)
Research Aand development net expendilure 5 (9,427,150) (9.73.007)
Operating profit 89,204,777 90.143.562
Operaling profit is analysed as:
Operaling profit before depreciation, amontisation and ‘ 141,908,794 136,650,197 '
rescarch and development expenditure ("EBITDA™)
Depreviation of property, plant and equipment {26,141,063) (22.215.816)
Depreciation of right of use nssets © - . ’ (1,189.476) (6.376.568)
Amontisation of intangible assets * (9,946,328) (8. l480.234)

- Research and development ex;iendilure (9,427,150) (9,734.017)
Finance cosis 6 (2,646,005) (9.370.422)
Finance income : ’ o . 6 10,100,360 9,254
Finance income/(costs)- net 7,454,358 (9.361.168)
Profit before income tax 96,659,132 80.782.394
Income 1ax expense ) 8 {l9,088.l95) (16.576.675)
Profit for the year 77,576,937 64,205,719

The notes on pages 23 1o 69 are an integral part of these consolidaied financial stalements.
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Group statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 September 2022

2022 2021
£ £
. Profit for the year 77,576,937 64.205,719
Other comprehensive income/(expense);
Ttems that may be subsequemly reclassified to profit or loss:
Currency translation differences 2'5'99q'073 (4,778.900)
Total other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 25,997,073 (4.778.900)
Total comprehensive income for the year 103,568,010 59.426.819 .

The noles on pages 23 1o 69 are an intcgral part of these consolidated financial statcments.
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Group and company statements of changes in equity .

For the year ended 30 September 2022

Attributable to owners of the parent

. Currency ’
Share Share (ranslation Retained Total .
capital premivm reserve earnings equity
Group £ £ £ £ £
‘At | October 2020 : 15,296,312 ° 173911921 31.772.175 268,621,725 489,602,133
Comprehensive income/(expense) .
Profit for the year ’ . - - 64.205.719 64,205,719
Other compi‘ehensive expense
Currency translation differences . : - (4.778.900) - (4,778,900)
Total comprehensive income . -, - (4.778.900) 64205749 59,426,819
ALJ0 September 2021 and ) October 2021 15296312 173.911.921 * 26993.275 332827444 549,028,952 -
Comprehensive income ' 4 .
Profit for the year - ' oo - . 77570937  77.570937
Other comprehensive income .
Currency translalion differences - - 25,997,073 . 25,997,073
Total comprehensive income - - 25997.073 77.570.937 103,568,010
AL 30 September 2022 15,296,312 173,911,921 52,990,348 410,398,381 652,596,962
Share Share  Accumulated Total
capital premium losses equity
Company . . £ £ £ £
" At | October 2020 15,296,312 173.911.92) (28.262.8376)  160,945357
Comprehensive expease ’

- Loss (or the year.and 101al comprehensive expense - - (8.243,M7) (8,243,347)
At 30 September 2021 and | October 2021 15,296,312 ° 173,911,921 (36.506.22)) 152,702,010
Comprehensive expense ' A
Loss for the year and total comprehensive expense ’ - (466.549) (466,549)
At 30 September 2022 . 15,296,312 173,911,921 (36,972,772)  152,235461

The notes on pages 23 10 69 are an inlegral pan of these consolidated financial siatements.
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Group balance sheet as at 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Note X £ . £
Assets
Non-current assets . .
Property, plant and equipment ) 9 T 391,609,387 323,054,587
- Right of use assels N 10 48,421,867 49,803,935
Goodwill , ‘ oo 87,655,107 81,324,787
Other intangible assets 12 28,406,567 28,291,082
Deferred income tax assel 14 ’ 520,803 694,165
'i‘olal non-current assets _ V 556,613,731 483,168,556
Current assets . .
Inventories ’ . 15 28,933,374 27,433,602
Current income tax asset ‘ ' » 12,725558 11,855,436
Trade and other reccivables . - 16 248,010,601 176,668,338
Cash and cash equivalents ’ 17 - 108,790,846 115,088,844
Total current assets . 398,460,379 331,046,220
Total assets 955,074,110 814,214,776
“Equity and liabilities
Liabilities
Current liabilities ,
Borrowings ' 18 8,981,660 8,932,251
" Trade and other payables 19 157,472,068 130,639,348
Current income tax liabilities 1,657,440 1,871,218
Total current liabilities 168,111,168 141,442,817 -
Non-current liabilities :
Borrowings . l 18 . 60,333,086 62,884,153
Deferred income tax liabilities 14 30,958,963 22,989,688
Deferred income 20 19,595,652 18,982,324
Other non-current liabilities . 21 17,215,671 15,383,139
Provisions for liabilitics and charges 22 6,262,608 3,503,703
Total non-current liabilities : _ 134,365,980 123,743,007
Total liabilities y ' 302,477,148 265,185,824
Equity attributable to owners of the parent :
Share capital ' 23 15,296,312 15,296,312
Share premium 23 _ 173911921 173,911,921
Currency translation reserve . 52,990,348 26,993,275
Retained eamnings 410398381 332,827,444
Total equity 652,596,962 .549,028,952
Total equity and liabilities : 955,074,110 814,214,776

The notes on pages 23 to 69 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. The financial statements on pages
16 to 69 were authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 13 March 2023 and were signed on their behalf by:

= gl

A D Ammstrong (Director) N Harkin (Director} Registered number: NJ 041551
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Company balance sheet as at 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Note ‘ £ £

Assets

Non-current assets .

Property, plant and cquipment 9 24,567,011 13,271,318
Right of use assets ‘ ' , 10 4,174,307 3,103,894
Other intangible assets . 12 2,674,486 2,940,739
Investments in subsidiaries . 13 175,676,859 175,676,859
Finance lease receivable 16 10,885,739 11,992,404
Total pon-current assets _ . . 217,978,402 206,985,214
Current assets

Trade and other m;eivah!cs ' 16 309,763,784 259,229,796
Cash and cash equivalents 17 59,677,629 67,382,349
_Total current assets 369,441,413 326,612,145
Total assets . 587,419,815 533,597,359
Equity and liabilities

Liabdilities

Current liabilities )

Borrowings 18 381,367,189 326,839,954
Trade and other payables . 19 22,879,346 21,994,972
Total current liabilities ) ’ 404,246,535 348,834,926
Non-current liabitities

Borrowings . ) 18 26,492,342 28,924,536
Deferred income tax liabilities 14 1,996,533 1,111,857
Deferred income 20 148 446
Other non-cirvent liabilities ' ) ‘ 2 1,948,796 2,023,584
Provision for liabilities and i:harges ' 22 500,000 -
Total non-current liabilities 30,937,819 32,060,923
Total liabilities 435,184,354 380,895,349
Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capital : ’ 23 15,296,312 15,296,312
Share premium : 23 173,911,921 173,911,921
Accumulated losses ) ‘

At October . (36,506,223)  (28,262,876)
Loss for the year - (466,549)  (8,243,347) .
A130 September (36,972,772) (36,506,223)
Total equity 152,235,461 152,702,010
Total equity and liabilities 587,419,815 533,597,359

The notes on pages 23 to 69 are an integra!l part of these financial statements. The financial statements on pages 16 to 69 were
authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 13 March 2023 and were signed on their behalf by:

A S Sl —

A D Amstron; . N Harkin
(Director) (Director)
Registered Number: N1 041551
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Almac Group Limited
Group cash flow statement for the year ended 30 September 2022
2022 2021
Note £ £
Cash flows from opecating activities
Cash generated from operations 25 73,482,305 1 417912
Interest paid ‘ (731,740) (1.112.961)
Income 1ax paid (5,832,016) (947.010)
Nei cash generated from operating activities 66,918,549 109.357.942
Cash flows (rom investing activities
Purchase of inlangible assets (9,109,186) (8.669,752)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (69,892,127) (47,001,009}
Capita) grants received 2,789,638 3,358.236
Finance income received " 3,102 9,254
Nei cash vsed in investing activities (76,208,573) (52,305.271)
Cash flows from (inaacing activities
Lease principal payments (10,018,755) (8.179.226)
Repayment of borrowings (2,180,790) (5.140.241)
Repayments Lo related parties . (178.590)
Net cash used in (inancing activilies (§2,199,545) (13.498.057)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents . (21,489,569) 43,554,614
Effect of foreign exchange movement on cash and cash
equivalents , 15,133,536 (1.,093.653)
. Cash, cash equivalents and overdrafis at beginning of the year 115,011,048 72.550.087
Cashi, cash equivalents and overdrafts at end of the year 17 108,655,015 115.011.048

The notes on pages 23 10 69 are an integral part of these consolidated inancial statements.
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Company cash flow statement for the year ended 30 September 2022
‘ 2022 2021
Nate* £ £

Cash flows from operating activilies
‘Cash (used in)/gencraled from operations 25 (1,070,552). 4.[05.654
Interest paid (11,973,793) (14.575.447)
Net cash used in operating activilies (13,044,345) (10,469.793)
Cash flows from investing activities
Puschase of property. plant and equipmenl (12,115307) (4.084.594)
Purchase of intangible assets (491,090) (2.277.865)
Purchase of subsidiary undenakings . (55.946)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plani and equipmenl . 73.620
Proceeds from disposal of other intangible assels . 28.600
Receipts from finance leases 1,472,568 1.472,567
Repayments from group undertakings T 9.658.402
Advances 10 group undenak'ings (52,106,328) .
Finance income received 9,584,862 6.764.373
Net cash (used in)/gencraied from investing activitics (53,655,295) 11,579,157
Cash flows from financing actlivities .
Lease principal payments (2,049,260) (1.886.050)
Repayment of borrowings (1,188,980) (4.149.663)
Advances from group undertakings §3469,118 43.193.168
Repayments 10 related parties ' - (178.5%0)
Net cash generaled from financing activities 50,030,878 16.978.865
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (16,668,762) 18,088,229
Effect of foreign exchange movement on cash and cash equivalents 8,964,042 -
Cash, cash equivatents and bank overdrafts at beginning of the year 67,382,349 29,294,120
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafis at end of the year 7 59,677,629 67.382.349

The notes on pages 23 to 69 are an integral pant of these consolidated financial siatements.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022

1 Accounting policies
General information

‘The group’s principal activitics during Ihe year exiend across drug discovery, APl development and manufacture, anatytical
services. diagaostic services, pharmaceutical developmen, al arcas of clinical iria) support. interactive responsc technologies
and the manufaciure and commercialisation of pharmaccutical products. The company's principal activity is thal of a holding
company. The financial statements are presented in UK pound sterling. Almac Group Limited is a private company limited by
shares and is incorporated and dumiciled in the United Kingdom. The company is registered in Nonhern Ireland. The company's
registered address is detailed on page ). The financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 13 March 2023.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of thesc consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistensly applicd to all the years presented, unless otherwise siated.

Basis of preparation

These consolidated and company financial siatements have been prepared on a going concem basis and in accordance with
intemational ‘accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The consolidated and
company financial statements have been prepared under (he historical cost convention.

On 31 December 2020, [FRS as adopied by the European Union at that date was brought into UK faw and became UK-adopted
International Accounting Siandards. with future changes being subject to endorsement by the UK Endorsement Board. Almac
Group Limited transitioned 10 UK-adopted Iniemational Accounting Standards in its company financial statements 0o 1
October 2021. This change constitutes a change in accounting framework. However, there is no impaci on recognition,
mcasuremeat or disclosure in che period reported as a result of the change in framework.

The preparation of financial statcments in conformity with IFRS requires the usc of certain critica) accounting estimates. [t also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies.

Going concern

The Group's forecasis and projections. laking account of ccasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the
group has adequate financial eesources o mee! its operational necds for at least a period of twelve months from the date the
financial statements. Consequenily. the direcrors have prepared these {inancial staicments on a going concern basis. After
making enquiries and having assessed the Group's principal risks. covenant compliance and the other relevam maiters. the
directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has access 10 adequate financial and other resources 1o continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future, .

Company profit and loss account

The direciors’ have iaken advantage of the exemption available under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and have not
presented an income statement for the company alone. The loss for the ycar ended 30 September 2022 is £466.549 (2021
foss of £8,243,347) ’

New and amended standards adopted by the company

The following standards and amendmenis are applicable for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 and are
therefore effective for this year end. These amendments have had no impact on the company’s financiat position or
performance in the current or prior years.

¢ COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions — amendments to [FRS 16, and
e Amendments to IFRS 7. IFRS 4 and [FRS 16 - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)
1 Accounting policies (continued) .

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Centain new accounting standards and intespresations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 Scpicmber 2022
reponing periods and have not been early adopted by the company. None of these are expecled (o have o material impact on
the company in the current or future reporting peciods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Basis of consolidation
ta)’ © Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are alt entitics (including structured entities) over which the geoup has control. The geoup contrals an enlity when
the group is exposed (0, or has rights to. vasiable returms from its involvement with the enlity and has the abilily to affect those
returms through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidaicd I‘rom the date on which contro) is wransferred (o the
group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The group applies the acquisition method to account for busincss combinations. The cansideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair valve of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 10 the former owners of the acquiree and the
equily interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement. [deatifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent lisbilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially al theis fair values at the acquisition date. The group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. either at fair value or al the non-controlling interests proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable nei assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combinatioo is achieved in s1ages. the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date: any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are cecognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the group is recognised a) fais vatve a1 the acquisition date, Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an assel of liability is recognised in accordance with 1AS
39 either in profit or 10ss or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classificd as cquity is
not re-measured. and its subsequent seitlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the cansideration iransferred. the amount of any aon-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equily interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the 101al of consideeation transferred. non-controlling interest recognised and previously held intcrest measured is
less than the fair vatue of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase. the difference is

recognised dicectly in the income siatement. later-company transactions, balances and unrealiscd gains on transactions between
group companics are climinated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform wilh the group’s accounting policics.

(b)  Changes in ownership intesesls in subsidiaries without change of conirol

“Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control arc accounted-for as equily transactions - that is,
as transactions with the owners in their capacily as owaess. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of 1he carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is tccordcd in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to
non-controlling interests are also fecorded in equily.

() Dlsposal of subsidiaries

When the group ceases lo have control any relained interest in the entity is remeasured 1o its fair value at the dale when control
is losl. with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or-loss. The fair value is the initial cacrying amount for the
purposcs of subsequenily accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. [n addition. any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as il the group had
d)mclly dispased of the related asscis or Jiabilitics. This may mean that amounts prcvmusly recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassificd (0 profit or loss.
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" Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 (contfnued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings comprise mainly offices. leaschold improvements and laborateries. Property, plaat and cquipment is stated
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is direcily stiributable to the acquisition
of the items.

Subsequent costs arc included in the assel’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the ilem can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and mmnu.nance are charged to the income
statement during the financial year in whlch they are incurred.

No depreciation is charged on land. nor on assets in the course of construction until such time as they are brought into use. For
al) other asscts depreciation is calculated 10 write off the cost less their estimated residual values, on a straighl-line basis over
the expected useful economic lives of the assets cancerned, or ihe life of the project, whichever is earlier. The principal annual
rotes used are as follows:

Do
Buildings ) .- 2-125
Plant and machinery T T )
Fixwres. {inings and computer equipment — 10-25
Motor vehicles - 20

The assets’ residual values and usefut economic lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate. al each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is writtea down immediately 10 its recoverable amount if the assel’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amouat.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are fecognised within
adminisiralive cxpenses io the income statement.

Capitalisation of finance costs

Geaeral and specific borrowing costs directly attribuiable to the acquisition, consteuction or production of gualifying assets.
which are asseis that necessarily take a substantial period of time (o get ceady for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an ecquisitinn over the fair value of the group's share of the net identifiable assets
of the acquired subsidiary a1 the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiarics is included in ‘imangible assels’.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. [mpaitment -losses on
goodwill ase not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill refaling to the
entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpases of impairment tesiing. The allocation is made to those cash-
generaling units or groups of cash-generating units that are expecled 10 benefit from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose. -



Almac Group Limited | 26

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)
Intangible assets (continued)
Computer software and safﬁmre under development

The costs of acquiring and bringing into use computer soltware are capitalised and amonised on a siraight-line basis over the
estimated useful economic life of the software which is between three (o ten years. .

Capitalised softwarc development costs include external direct costs of material and services together with direct Jabour costs
relating (0 softwere devetopment. Development costs that are direcily auribuiable 1o the design and 1esting of identifiable and
unique sofiware producis controlled by the group are recognised as intangible-assets when the following criteria are met:

it is technically feasible to complete the sofiware product so that it will be available for use:

management inteads to complete the software product and use or sell it;

there is an ability o use or.sell the soflware product;

it can be demonstrated how the sofiware product will generale probable fulure economic benefits;

adequale technicat, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or.sell the saftware product are
available; and ' '

e the expenditure allributable to the software product duting its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do nol meet these crileria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs
previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an assct in a subsequent period.

Direclly autributable costs that are capitalised as pact of the sofiware product include the software development employee costs
and an appropriate portion of relevam overheads. Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised
as an expense as incurred. Development custs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset tn a subsequent
period. .

Software as a Service (Saa$) armangements provide the group with the right to access cloud-hased software applications over a .
conicactual period. The software remains the intelleciual property of the developer and as a result the group does nol recogaise
an intangible asset in relation 1o subscription fees and costs incurred 1o cuslomise or configure the software. The relaled costs
are recognised in the group income slatement when the service is received. Costs incurred to enhance or develop an existing
intangible asset or develop new sofiware code which meet the definition and recognition criteria of an intangible asset are
capialised as intangible software assets. Amortisation is recognised over the expected useful life of the software,

Product licences

Product licences acquired are capilalised and amortised over their useful economic life which is between one Lo twelve years.
They are carried al historical cost less accumulated amertisation and impairment losses.

Research and development

Expenditurc on rescarch is written off in the year in which it is incurred. Development expendilure is cagitaliscd when the
criteria for recognising an assel are met.,

Research and development tax credits

Under UK tax legistation introduced in the 2013 Finance Bill research and development credits can be claimed against qualifying
research and development expenditure. Where these credits are not expected Lo be restricted by the PAYE/NI cap included within
the legislation then the credit is, in substance, a govemnment grant. The group has elected to treat such credits as a government
grant and recognise the credits in the same period as the research and development expenditure arises.



" Almac Group Limited | ‘ | 27

.

Notes to the financial statements for the year endéd 30 September 2022 (continued)

1 Accéun(ing policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assels that have an indefinite useful ecanomic life. for example goodwill, are noi subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairmenl. Assets shal are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever cvents or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
camrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to scil,
and valuc in use. For the purposes of assessing impaicmem, asseis are grouped by cash gencrating unit. Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that have suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reponting date.

At each balance sheel date non-financial assets noi carried al fair value are assessed to determine whether there is an indicalion
that the assel (or asset’s cash generating unit) may be impaired. If there is such an indication, the recoverable amount of the
assel (or asset’s cash generating vnit) is compared to the carrying amount of the asscl (or assel’s cash generating unit),

The recoverable amount of the asset (or asset's cash. generating unit) is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. Value in use is defined as the present value of the future cash flows before interest and tax obtainable as a result of the
assel’s (or asset’s cash generating unit) continued use. These cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that
represents the current market risk-free rate and the risks inherent in the assel.

If the recoverable amount of Ihe assel (or asset's cash generating unit) is estimated 10 be lower than the carrying amount, the
camrying amount is reduced o its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account unless the
asset has been revalued when the amount is recognised in other comprehensive income Lo the extent of any previously recognised
revaluation, Thereafiee, any excess is recognised in profit and loss account.

If an ismpairment loss is subscquently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset (or asset’s cash generating uait) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the revised carrying amount ‘does not exceed the
carrying amounl that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment toss been recognised
in prior periods. A seversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Financial assets
C lassification

" The group and company classifies its financial assets in the followmg measurement categories:

¢ those to be measured subsequenily at fair value (either through other comprehensive i income (OCI) or through profit or
toss): and

*  thosc to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entily's business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows. For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recarded in profit or loss or OCI. The company reclassifies
debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assels changes.

Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are rccogmscd on trade-date, the date on which the group commits to -
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the group and company has transferred subsiantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
Measurement ) }

At iniliat recognition, the group and company measures a {inancial assct at its Fair value plus. in the casc of a financial assel not
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction cosis that are directly attributahle 10 the acqunsmon of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed i in profit or toss.
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1 Accounting policies (continued) ' :
Financial assets (continued)
Debt instruments

Subscquent measurement of debt instruments depends on the company’s business model for managing the assel and the cash
flow characteristics of the assel. ‘The group and company only has debt instruments which are held for collection of cash Mlows
where those cash flow represent solely paymenis of principal and interest. These are subscquently red at amortised cost.
laterest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses). Impairment losscs are
prcscnled as separate line item in the statement of profit or Ioss

Impairment

The group and company assesses on a forward- -looking basis the expecucd credit losses associated with its debt instruments
carried a1 amonised cost. The i 1mpaurmen| methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credil
risk .

Provisions

Provisions for medical claims under the group’s self-insured medical scheme ace recognised where: the group has a present

- tegat or constructive obligation as a result of past events: it is probable that an outftow of resources will be required to seutle
the obligation: and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Where
there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an ovtflow will be required in scttlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations is small. Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected 1o be required 10 sellle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessmenis of the
time value of money and the risks specific 10 the obligation. The increase in the provision due (0 passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.

Iavestments in subsidiaries

[nvestments in subsidiaries are held as non-current assets and are recorded at cost, which is the lair vaiue of the consideration
paid. less any provision for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds ils recoverablc amount.

- Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and nel realisable value. Cost is determined using the firsi-in, first-out (FIFO} method.

The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw malerials. direct labour, other direct costs and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated sclhng price
in the ordmary course of the business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables
¢ N -

Trade receivablcs are amouats due from cusiomers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.

If colleciion is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). they are classified as

current assets. If not, they are presented as noncursent assels. Trade receivables are recognised initially a1 fair value and

subsequently measured al-amortised cast using the effective interesit method, less provision for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the group statcment of cash flows, cash and cash cqui;/alcnls includes cash in hand. deposits held at call with banks. and bank
overdrafts. In the group balance sheet. bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)
Current and deferred incame tax

The tax expense for the year comprises cursent and deferved 1ax. Tax is recognised in the income statement. except Lo the extent
that it relaies 1o ilems recognised in ather comprehensive income ar directly in equity. {n this case the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or dircclly in cquity respectively. ’

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacied or substantivety enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the group’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions laken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject (o interpretation, It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the 1ax authorities.

Deferred income lax is recognised, using Lhe liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, However, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liabilily in a transaction other than a business combination that at
the 1ime of the transaction affects ncither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet dale and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised, only to the extent thal il is probable that fulure taxable profit will be available against
which the lemporary differences can be utilised. Deferred income 1ax is provided on temporary differences arising on investmenis
in subsidiaries and associatcs, cxcept where the timing of the reversal of the tcmporary difference is controlled by the group and

it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current (ax liabilitics and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilitics relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the 1axable entity of different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Borrowings

Borrowings arc recognised initially ai fair value, nct of iransaction costs incurred. Borrowings arc subsequently stated al
amontised cost; any difference between the procceds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility witt be drawn down. In this case. the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no cvidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment
for liquidily secvices and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities untess the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 1welve months after the balance sheet date.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. I niot, they are presented
as non-current liabitities, o

Trade and othcr payables are recognised initially at fair valuc and subscquently measured at amontised cost using the elfective
interest method. :

Grants

Grants are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the group will
camply with all atiached conditions. Granis relating 10 costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement over the peciod
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. Granis relaling to propenty, plant and equipment
are included in non-curreni liabilities as deferred income and are credited (o the income statement on a siraight-line basis over
the expected vseful economic lives of the related assets,
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1 . Accounting policies (continued)
Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equily. Incremental costs dlrcclly auributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as
a deduction. net of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the provision of services and products in the
ordinary caurse of the group’s activities. Revenue is shown aei of value-added tax and after eliminating sales within the group.
The group has a number of revenue streams across its divisions as follows:

a) Provision of custom chemical synthesis, diagnosiic services and full time equivalent staff to customer specified projecis
These services meet the criteria to be recognised over time as the business has the right to reccive payment as
performance progresses or, in the case of the provision of full 1ime equivalent stall to customer specified projects. the
customer simullaneously receives and consumes economic benefit as the services provided.

b) Manufaciure, packaging, distribution and sale of pharmaceutiral products
For coniracts for the sale of pharmaceutical products, the performance obligation is the acceptance or delivery of the
item, Revenue is recognised at the point in ume when the customer obtains control of the goods based on the delivery
terms of the contracl.

c) Product parkagmg labelling. storage and shipping
The group undertakes these services in suppon of clinical wiats. These are treated as scparate performancc obligations
as the customer can benefit from each separately as they are distinct promtscs wilhin the respective contracts. As the
business has the right 10 ceceive payment as the contract progresses revenue is recognised over time.

d) Design, developmeni, validation and maintenance of Imieraciive Response Technology
Within the Clinical Technologies division Almac develops customer solutions in support of clinical trials capable of
testing and evaluating pharmaccutical drug cfficacy and capiuring the cesulis of refated clinical trals. This may also
include the maintenance and support of the sysiem and management of the drug supply chain thcoughout the clinical
trial. Revenue is recognised over time as the business has the right to receive payment as performance progresses.

e) Product development services, project management and procurenient services
The group performs pl‘oducl development, project management and procurement services on a variely of contracis. The
performance obligation is the completion of these services which meet the criteria to be recognised over time as the
cusiomer simulianeously receives and consumes the benefits as the performance progresses.

Foreign curvency translation

ftems included in the financial statements aof each of the group's enlities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
cavironment in which the entity operates {"'the functional currency™). The consolidated financial stailements are presenied in UK
pound sterling, which is the group’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transaclians are translated inio the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foceign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monctary asseis and liabilitics denomiinated in foreign
currencics are recognised in the income statement, excepl whea deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying
net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income: slatement
within ‘ftnance income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income stalement within
adrinisirative expenses. '
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1 Accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued)

The results and financial position of all the group eatities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflstionary economy) that
have a funclional cunency different from.the presenialion cumency are teanslated into tht presentation currency as follows:

e assets and liabilitics for cach balance sheet prescnted are iranslated at the closing raie at the date of that balance sheel:

¢~ income and expenses for cach income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximalion of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the trdnsaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions): and :

o all resulting currency translation differcnces are recognised as a separale component of equity in a currency translation
rescrve.

Employee benefit trust

The group’s share of the assets of the Almac Employee Benefit Trust and the Almac Offshore Employee Benefit Trust, which
are both employec benefit trusts. have been incorporaled within the group's balance sheel under the apprugriate asset categories.

Pension obligations

The group operates a defined contribution plan for employees whereby the group pays contributions to publicly or privately
administered pension insurance plans on a mandalory. contractual or volumtary basis. The group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as an employee benefil expense when they
are due. Prepaid contribulions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future paymeats is
available.

Share-based ﬁaymems

The group issues cash-settled phantom share-based paymcnl.ao certain cmployees of the company for their services to the group.
The group accounts for these phantom share based paymenis as cash-seuled phantom share-based payments which are measured
at fair value and recognised as an expense in the income statement with a corresponding increase in liabilities (within accruals).
The fair value is recognised over the period during which employees become unconditionally entitled 1o the awards, subject to
the group’s estimate of the number of awards which will lapse due (o employees leaving the group prior to vesting. The lotal
amount recognised in the income statement as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual amount of awards that are expccwd to
vest, except where forfeilure is due 10 employee's termination of conlract.

Leases

Definition

A lease is a contract, or o part of a contract, thal conveys the right 10 use an asset or a physically distinct part of an asset (“the
underlying asset™) for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Further, the contract must convey the right to the Group
1o contro) the asse1 or a physically distinct portion thereof. A contract is deemed to convey the right (o control the underlying

asset if, throughout 1he period of use, the Group has the right 10: .
. Obtain suhstam'ially al) the economic benefits from the use of the underlying asset: and
. Direct the use of the underlying asset (e.g. direct how and for what purpose the asset is used)

Where contracts conlain a lease coupled with an agreement to purchase or sell other goods or services (i.e., non-lease
componenls), the non-lease components are identified and accounted for separately from the lease component. The
consideration in the contract is allocated to the lease and non-lease components on a relative standalone price basis using the
principles in IFRS 15. '

The Group predominantly cngages in leases for land and bui!dings'and molor vehicles. The majority of leases for the Group
are located in the UK and lreland as a resoll of the manufaciuring and office locations.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

The Group and Company initially recogf\ises a tease liability for the obligation to make Icase payments and a right-of-use asset
for the right 10 use the underlying asset for the lease term. -

The leasc liability is measured at 1he present value of the lease payments 10 be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments, purchase oplions at exercise price (whcm payment is reasonably certain), cxpecied amount of residual
value guarantees, termination oplion penalties (where payment is considered reasonahly certain) and- variable lease payments
that depend on an index or rate.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at the amount of the lease liability. adjusted for Jease prepayments. lcase incentives
received, the Group's initial direct costs (¢.g.. commissions) and an estimate of restoralion, removal and dismantling cosis.

Subsequent measurement

Afier the commencement date. the Group measures the lease liability by: .

(8) Increasing the carrying amouni to ceflect interest on the lcase liability:

(d)  Reducing the carrying amount 1o reflect the lease payments made; and

(¢)  Re-measuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or 1o reflect revised in substance
fixed lease paymenis ar on the occurrence of other specific events.

Interest on the lease liabidity in each period during the lease term is the amount that produces a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the lease liability. Interest charges arce included in finance cost in the income stalement, unless the
costs are included in the carrying amount of another asset applyiag other applicable standards. Variable lease payments not
included in the measurement of the lease #iability. are included in operaling expenses in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers them arises.

The related right-of-use asset is accounted for using the Cost model in LAS 16 and depreciated and charged in accordance with

“the depreciation requirements of 1AS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment as disclosed in the accounting poticy for Property.,
Plant and Equipment. Adjustments are made 10 the carrying value of the right of use asset where the tease liability is re-
measured in accordance with the above. Right of use asseis aze tested for i |mpanrment in accordance with [AS 36 [enpairment of
assets as disclosed in the accounting policy in impairment. .

Lease modifications

If a lease is modified. the modified contract is evaluated to determine whesher it is or conlains a lease. Il a lease continues to
exist, the tease modification will result in either a separale lease or a change in the accounting for the existing lease.

"The modification is accounted for as a separate leasc if both: |

(2}  The modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more undeclying assets: and
(b)  The consideralion for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriale adjustments Lo (hat stand-atone price (o reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

If both of these conditions are mel. the Icase modification results in two separate leascs, the unmodificd original Icase and a
separatc lease. The Group then accounts for these in line with the accounting policy for new leascs. If either of 1he conditions
are not'met. the modificd lease is not accounted for as a separate lease and the considecation is aliocated to the contract and the
lease liability is re-measured using the lease term of the modified lease and the discount rate as determined at the effeclive date
of the modification.

For a modification that fully or partially decreases the scope of ihe lease (e.g.. reduces the square footage of Jeased space).
IFRS 16 requires a lessee 10 decrease the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset (o reflcct pantial or full termination of the
lease. Any difference between thase adjustments is recognised in profit or loss at the effective date of the modification.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)
Leases {conlinued)

For all other lease modifications which are nol accounted for as a scparate lease. IFRS 16 requires the lessee to recognise the
amount of the re-measurement of the lease ligbilily as an adjustment 1o the corresponding right-of-use assct without affecting
profit or loss.

Short term and low value leases

The Group has madce an accounting policy election. by class of underlying asset., not to recognise tease asscts and lease
liabilities for leases with a lease teem of 12 months or less (i.c.. short-tecm leases).

Lease payments on shorl term leases are accounted for on a siraight line basis over the term of the lease or other systematic -
basis if considered more appropriate. Short term lease payments are included in operating expenses in the income statemen,

Sub leases

If an underlying asset is re-leased by the Group to a third panty and 1he Group retains the primary obligation under the original
lease, the transaction is deemed 10 be a sublease. The Group continues to account for the original lease (the bead lease) as a
lessee and accounts far the sublcase as a lessor (intermediate lessor). When the head lease is a short term Iease., the sublease is
classificd as an operating lease. Otherwise, the sublease is classified using the classification criteria applicable to Lessor
Accounting in IFRS 16 by reference to the right-of-use assel in the head tease (and not the underlying assei of the head lease).

After classification lessor accounting is applied to the sublease.

Critical accounting judgements and estimates
Intangible assets - Goodwill

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. [1s recoverable amount is measured with reference (o a value in use model, being
the present value of the future cash flows before interest and 1ax obtainable as a result of 1he asset’s (or asset's cash gencrating
unit) continued use. These cash Mlows are discounted using a pre-lax discount rate that represents the current market risk-free
rale and Lhe risks inherent in the asset. The assumplions relating to future cash flows, estimated growth rates and discount rates
are based on business forecasts and therefore inhercntly include an clement of management judgement. Future events could
cause the assumplions used in these impairments tests to change which may in turn mean fulure impairmenis to be recogaised.
Plcase refer 10 note 1t for further details. o

Reventie recognifion

In the application of IFRS 15 “'Revenue from Contracts with Customers™ and as set oul in the accounting policy in Note 2 10
these accounts, across a number of revenue streams the Group recognises revenue over time as the business has the right to
either recewe payment for work done’as the performance of the contract progresses or the customer simultancously receives
and consumes economtc benefit as the services are provided.

A number of key eSIimalions are made within lhe accounting for revenue recognition: however, these do not carry a significant
risk of resulting in a material'adjustment within the next financial year. An estimaie is made of progress towards complete
satisfaction of each performance obligation for which revenue is recognised over time. Where delivery is part way through a
-performance obligation a1 the reporting date. an estimale is made of the amount of revenue 10 recognise to reflect the work
performed up to that date. This amount is ¢stimated on a percentage completion basis.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)
2 Financial risk management
Financial risk factors

The group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include price risk. interest saie risk, foreign exchange risk.
credit risk and liquidity risk. The group has in place a risk management programme that seeks to timit the adverse effects on the
financial performance of the group by monitoring the foregoing risks.

(2) Market risk

(i) - Price risk

The group is not exposed to commaodity price risk as a rcsull of its operations nor is the group exposed 10 equily sccunities price
risk as it holds no listed equity investments.

(i) lmeres; rate cisk

The group's interest rale risk arises from borrowings which are a combination of overdralis, bank borrowings, 1erm loans and
finance tease liabilities (excluding lease tiabililies arising on the adoption of IFRS 16). Interes! bearing assels consist of short-
term bank deposits. Borrowings at variable rales exposc the group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings at fixed rates
expose the group (o fair value interest rate risk. The group manages these risks by a mixtore of variable interest rates on overdrafts
and bank borrowings linked to Bank of England Base Rate (BOEBR) or other published interesi reference rates, and fixed rate
intetest on the group's finance lease liabilities. The interes! rate is monitored on a regular basis with reference 1o movemenis in
global inlerest rates and the potential impact upon the group's cost of borrowing.

Il average interest rates over the ycar had increased/decrcased by 1% with all other variables held constant. the finoncial
statements would have been impacted as follows:

2022 2021
Impact on Impacton
past-tax Impact on posi-tax Impact on
profits equity profits equity
£ £ £ £
Interes rates increase by | % 42,688 42,688 (141,904) {143.904)
Interest rates dececase by 1% ) ) (42,688) (42,688) 143,904 143.904
'(ii) Foreign exchange risk
White the greater part of the group’s rev and exp are denominated in UK pound sterling. the group is exposed to

foreign exchange risk (n the normal course of business in its overseas operations, principally on sales in US dollass and in Euros.
Group policy is to minimise the exposure of overseas subsidiaries to transaction risk by matching local currency income and
costs. While the group bas not used financial insiruments to date to hedge foreign exchange exposure, this position is-kept
constantly under review.

If the US dollar had weakened / sirengthened by 10% against the UK pound sterting spot rate on 30 Seplember wuh all other
variables held constant. the financial statements would have been impacted as follows:

- 2022 2021
lmpact on Impact on
post-tax Impact on post-tax Impact on
profits equity profils equity
: £ £ £
US dollar weakens by 10% against UK pound sterling: (7,534,380) (7,534,380) (5.845.197 (5.845.797)
US dollar sirenglhcns by 10% against UK pound sierling 9,10'8,686 . 9,208,686 7.144863 - 7.144.863

The figures above reflect retranslation of the group's investmen in foreign subsidiaries. The directors do not regard the group's
foreign exchange expasure on sales in Euro as significant.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

2 Financial risk management (continued) .
(b)  Credil risk

The group has implemented policics that require appropriate credit checks on potential customers before sales are made. Credit
control assesses the credii quality of the customer. taking into account its financial position. past experience and other factors.
The amount of exposure to individual customess is subject 1o limits, which are reassessed regularly by the Board. Credit risk also
arises from cash and cash equivalents with banks and financial institutions. Banking arrangements are reviewed and regularly
reassessed by the board. .

(c)  Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies mainaining sulficiem cash and the availability of funding through an adequate
amoumt of committed credit facilities. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidily reserve (comprising
undrawn borrowing lacility and cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flow. In addition, the group’s liquidity
management policy involves projecting cash Mows in major currencics and considering the levé) of liquid assets necessary (o
meet these: monitoring balance sheet liguidity ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements; and mainiaining debt
financing plaons. .

3 Capital risk management

The group's objeclives when managing capital are 10 safegvard the group’s abilily 10 continue as a going concern in order 1o
provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and 10 maintain an optimal capital structure (o reduce the cost
of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital siruclure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 1o sharchotders, -
return capital o shareholders, issue new shares or seli assels to reduce debt. '

The group monilors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debi/net funds divided by 10tal capital.
Net deb is calculated as total borrowings (current and non-curvent) as shown in the group balance sheet less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital is calculaled as equity as shown in the group balance sheet plus net debi.

The gearing ratios al 30 September were as follows:

2022 2021

Group £ ) £
Total borrowings (note 18) . 69,314,746 71.816,404
Less: cash and cash equivalents (note 17) . (108,790,846) (115,088,844)
Netdebr ‘ i (39,476,100) (@3.272.440)
Tota) equity 652,596,962 $49.028.952
Tota) capital . 613,120,862 505,756,512

Gearing ratio . : (64%) {8.6%)

The group's siralegy is to maintain an appropriate mix of debt and cquity consistent with fulfilling long-tesm growth plans.

The company's objectives when managing capital arc to safcguard the group and company’s abilily 10 continuc as 8 going
concern in order to provide returns to shareholders and henefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capita)
structure 10 reduce the cosi of capital. In order to mainlain or adjust the capital siructure, the company may adjust the amouat
of dividends paid to shareholdcrs. relurn capital o shareholderss, issue new shares or sell assets 10 reduce debt.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year en(_led 30 September 2022 (continued)
4 Revenue '

Revenue is auributable to the group's principal activities carvied out in the United Kingdom., the United States of Amerlca Asia
and the Republic of Ireland.

Timing of revenue is as follows: ‘ 2021
: 2022 (restated)
£ £

Point in Time o . 134,194,749 138.009.032
Over Time 706,262,250 597.062.132
Total . ' 840,456,999 735.071.164

*During the year management performed a review of revenues between point in lime and over lime. As a8 consequence (he
2021 disclosure has been updaied 1o ensure consistent comparability with £46.912.873 being reclassified to over time from
point in time in that period. .

Disaggregation of revenue by geographical regions is as foflows: - s
. Restated*

- 2022 202)
Group : £ £
United Kingdom - 412,638,043 367.180.250
Europe ’ _ 91,157,920 " 80.835.634
United Stales - ’ © 304,984,710 261.829.620
Other ‘ : ‘ 31,626,326 25.025.660

Total | . 840,456,999 735.071.164

*During the year management performed a review of revenue disaggregation by geographical region. As a consequence the
2021 disclosure has been updated to more accurmely seflect the geographical region where the activity that generates revenve
takes place.

Reler 10 note 16 for detaits of refated conlract assets. -

S  Expenses by nature :
g 2022 2024

Group A £ £
Ch;anges in inventorics of finished goods and work in progress 902,269 5,029.301
Raw malerials and consumables used 246,347,322 169,734,309
Employce benefits expense - net of capitalised software development costs (note 7) 355,461,157 302,406,282
Depreciation and amortisation . 36,087,391 30.396,050
Depreciation on right of use assets A 7,189,476 6.376.568
" Transfer from capital grant resecve (nolc 20) o C (2,347,345) (2.318,559)
Revenue grants . . (3,069,061) {1.884.714)
Loss on disposal of propcrty. plant snd equipment and inlangibles 99,438 83876
Expense on short term leases ’ 421,027 316,218
Other expenses* 110,160,548 134,788.274
Total cost of sales, distribution costs, administrgtive expenses and research . .
and development expenditure ) 751,252,222 644.927.602

*Research and development expenditure of £9.427,150(2021: £9.734.017) is included within other expenses and is stated after
the deduction of £515.979 (2021: £673.300) of rescarch and development 1ax credits. A Tunher £7, I0l 167 (2021 £5.190.141)
of research and development tax credits has been deducted from other expenses. .
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S Expenses by nature (continued)

Services provided by the group and company’s auditors and its associates

During the year the group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obiained the following services from the group's auditor and its

associates:
2022 2021
Group £ £
Fees payable to the group’s auditors for the audit of company and consofidated - :
financial statements 50,000 42,125
Fees payable to the group’s auditors and its associates for ather services: - .
- the audii of the company's éubsidinries pursuant to legislation 453,730 346.980
- taxalion compliance services . 129,180 218.680
- other services 4423 235,807
6  Finance income/(costs) - net
’ 2022 2021
Group £ £
Interest expense: .
Intcrest payable on bank borrowings (437,328) (512.149)
Intcrest payable on related pany loans . (730
Interest payable on finance leases (2,150) (3.924)
Interest payabte on IFRS16 leases ! (1,912,115 (1.907.430)
Foreign exchange loss on financing activities ‘ - (6.350.(‘)31)
Other finance costs (294412) (596.151)
Finance costs (2,646,005) (9.370.422)
Interest income:
Interest receivable on bank deposits . 3102 2812
Foreign exchange gains on financing aclivities 10,097,258 * .
Other finance income ’ ' - 6.442
Finance income ~ 10,100,360 9.254
Finance income/(costs) - net 7.454,355 (9.361.168)
7 Employees and directors
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
Group and Company £ £ £ £
Staff costs during the year: .
Wages and salarics 311,483,856 265.072,148 22,884,260 20,176.127
" Social security cosis 27,745,292 22,768,251 2,461,479 2.163.730
Other pension cosis (note 26) 10,459,980 8.715.100 1,110,899 843,300
Share baseq payment costs (note 29) 6,695,822 6.332.336 1,011,854 1,398,240
356,384,950 302,892,835 27,468,492 24,581,397
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)
7 Employees and directors (continued)

The wages and salary costs include £923,793 (2021: £486.553) of capitalised labour costs.

Group : Company )
2022 . 2021 2022 2021
Group and Company ' Nu_mber Number Number Number
Average monthly number of persons employed '
(including directors) during the year by activily: . . . )
Production . 5,073 _ 4490 - -
Sates and iarketing s 228 . Co.
Administration 1,039 980 468 - 428
Research and develppmeﬁl ’ . 100 '85 - -
) 6,464 5.783 468 428
key manage.mem compensation
) ) 2022 2021
Group ' - £ £
Salaries and other short-lerm employee benefits ‘ 8,563,223 9.385,71S
. Pension costs - defined contributions plans ' . 116,934 149,384

8,680,157 9.535.099

, " - . ‘ o 2022 2021
Company ' ‘ . ’ ) . £ £
Salaries and other shorn-term employee benefits : 2,459,634 2,780,127
Pension costs - defined contributions plans : - 31,880

2,459,634 2.812,007

~

The key management compensation given above includes direclors and scnior managers. - -

' . ) 2022 2021
Directors A ’ : £ £
Aggregate emoluments . ) ' 1,857,625 . 2,268,882
Pension costs - defined contributions plans . - k]| .8'80
Amounts receivable in respect of share-based paymehls . 309,185 184,869

Three (2021: (hree) directors have retirement benefils accruing under 3 defined contribution plan. Three (2021: three) directors
have exercised phantom share options in the year.

. 2022 2021
Highest paid director ' ‘ £ £
Aggrcgate emoluments ' . 723,665 . 813117

The highes! paid director exercised phaniom share options in the year and during the previous year.
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8  Income tax expense

2022 . 2021

. £ £
Current tax .
UK corparation 1ax ) 6,289,413 4,141,152
Overseas 1ax 5,355,406 3,207.808
Adjustment in respect of previous periods 789,897 (867.904)
Total current tax expense 12,434,716 6.481.056
Deferred tax : .
Origination and reversal of temporary diffecences 6,823,436 5,159.162
Changes in lax laws and rates : 955,908 4,146.836
Adjustment in respect of previous periods . (1,125,865) 789.621
Total deferved tax charge (note 14) . 6,653,479 10.095.619
Income tax expense X i 19,088,195 16.576.675

The tax on the group’s profit before income 1ax differs from (2021: differs from) the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows: "

2022 2021
£ £
Profit before income tax . . 96,659,132 80,782,394
Profi1 before income 1ax at the UK standard rate of 19% (2021: 19%) “ 18,365,235 15,348,655
Effecis of: _
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,128,923 1.131.56}1
Effeci of changes in overseas (ax rates .A 632,513 8,700
Movement in deferred tax not provided ' ' (16,479) (3.066,692)
Group relief not paid : 71,130 46,526
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (335,968) (78.283)
Changes in tax laws and rates- ; ‘ 705,087 4.118.017
Research and development tax credits * Co . (294,000) (382.066)
Super deduclion (1,168,246) (549.749)

Income tax expense ‘ . 19,088,195 16.576.675

Factors affecting (ax rate

In the Spring Budget 2021, the UK Government announced that from | April 2023 (he corporation tax rate would increase to
25% (rather than remaining at 19, as previously enacled). This ncw law was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. Deferred
taxcs at the balance sheet date have been measured using these enacted (ax rates and reflected in these financial statemeats.
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9 Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures,
. fittings
Assets in the : and .

Land and course of Plant and computer Motor

buildings construction muchinery  equipment vehicles Total
Group £ £ £ £ £ £
Cost N
At | October 2020 © 262,896,661 3.791.152 147.559.178  62.958.751 382226 477,587,968
Transfers (1.716.580)  (2,650.705) 4.319.235 48.050 : -
Addilions 4,138.315 15.203.660 20,148,733 7.360.932 151.369 47,001,009
Disposals ' (3.598) (22.629) (196802)  (919.158) (82.954)  (1.225.141)
Exchange adjusiment (5.803.594) (3.533) (2433.628)  (1.354.811) ° (10.748) (9.606.314)
AL 30 Scplember 2021
and a1 ) October 2021 259,511,204 16,317.945 169.396.716 68,093,764 439893  513.759,522
Transfers ~ 1.508. 1 (6.737.206) 5.198.632 29,863 - -
Additions 14323399  33.114.085 21,889,999 7.521985 60.171 76.909.639
Disposals (311.047) - (107.867) , (1.601) (55.408) (475.923)
Exchange adjustmen 20.439.051 (713539) 5.449.336 6.423.698 19887 31618433
At 30 September 2022 295,471,318 41,981,285 201,826,816 82,067,709 464,543 621,811,671
Accumulated depreciation .
Al | Oclober 2020 54,050,116 75,378,447 42,751,500 308,658 172.489.121
Charge for the year 5.401.189 . 11526371 5.243.941 44315 22215816
Disposals (48) - {96,385) (888.258) (82,954)  (1.067.645)
Exchange adjustment (1.039.060) - (1.039.952) (844.204) (9.141) (2,932,357
At 30 September 2021 .
and a1 ) October 202} 58.412.197 85.768.481  46.263.379 260.878 190,704,935
Charge for the year 6.133.281 - 13.593.547 . 6357117 56,618 26.141,063
Disposals (292.631) - (90.994) - {55.408) (439.033)
Exchange adjusiment 5.265.358 - 3.739.412. 4819911 20,638 13.795.319
Al 30 September 2022 69,468,705 103,010,446 57,440,407 282,726 230,202,284
Net book amount
At 30 September 2022 226,002,613 41,981,285 98,816,370 24,627,302 181,817 391,609,387
Al 30 September 2021 -201.099.007 16,317,945 83.628.234  2(.830.386 179015 323.054.587
Al 30 September 2020 208.846.545 3.791.152 + 72,180,731 20,206,851 73.568  105.098.847

Borrowings totalling £13,325,528 (2021: £15.478,446) are secured against the above assets (note (3).

Interest costs of £nil (2021: £nil) were capilalised during the year. Cumulative interest capitalised pre accumulated
depreciation at' 30 September 2022 was £1,082,459 (2021: £1.082.459).
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9 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Assets held under finance leases had the lollowing net hook amount:

s 2022 2021
- Group £ £
Cost 108,246 156.482
Accumulated depreciation (50,156) (156.482)
Net book amount 58,090 -
Fixtures,
fittings and
Land and Plant and computer Motor
buildings machinery equipment vehicles Total
Company £ £ £ £
Cost
A1 | Octaber 2020 4,048,511 4,246.509 10.855.122 110,514 19.260.656
Additions 53.535 3.209.102 802.328 © 19,629 4.084.594
" Disposals (1.598) (44,471) (33.380) (2.750) (84.199)
A1 30 Sepiember 202! and at
I Ociober 2021 4,098,448 7.411.140 11,624,070 127,393 23,261,051
Additions 8,018,871 4,559.521 695.305 19,836 13,293,533
Disposals (311.047) . . (311.047)
At 30 September 2022 11,806,272 11,970,661 12,319375 147,229 36,24‘3,537
Accumulated depreciation
Al ] October 2020 413.783 1,945,582 6.363.448 77.025 8.799.838
Charge for he year 50.595 147.824 987,706 12,315 1,198,440
Disposals (48) (2.965) (2.782) {2.750) (8.545)
AL 30 September 2021 and at | .
October 2021 464.330 2.090.441 7348372 86.590 9.989.731
Charge for the year 30412 533.024 1,403,206 12,782 1.979.424
Disposals (292.631) - - oo- (292,631)
At 30 September 2022 202,111 2,623,465 8,751,578 99,372 11,676,526
Net book amount . .
At 30 September 2022 11,604,161 9,347,196 3,567,797 »47,857 24,567,011
AL 30 Sepiember 2021. 3.634.118 5.320.699 4.275.698 40,803 13.271,318
At 30 September 2020 3,634,728 2,300,927 4,491,674 33.489 10.460.818

Borrowings tolalling £11,289.803 (2021: £12.678.783) are secured againsi the above assets (noie 18),
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10 Right of use assets

Fixtures,
fittings and
Land and Plant and cemputer Motor . .
buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles Total
Group £ £ - £ £
Cost
At | October 2020 '57.762.093 328813 858.961 850,548  59.840415
Additions 4.092.777 152,070 267,426 282,898 4.795.171
Disposals (450,576) (3.584) (101,248) (148.923) . (704.331)
Exchange adjustment (1.880.596) (1.720) (21.741) (9.891)  (1.919.948)
At 30 September 2021 and at ) Octaber 2021 59.523.698 469,579 1,003,398 1014632  62.011,307
Additions 1.619.420 109.909 154,684 204.969 2,088,982
Disposals (237.987) (76.539)  (143.963)  (306459)  (764.948)
Exchange adjusiment 5.145.551 6,386 108.669 31,545 5.292.151
At 30 September 2022 66,050,682 509,315 1,122,788 944,687 68,627,492
Accumulated depreciation .
At 1 Ociober 2020 5,741,681 127,387 307.263 313.595 6,489,926
Charge for the year . ‘5,665,360 143,156 283.889 284.163 6.376.568
Transfer 22,02t - (22.021) . -
Disposals (234,724) (3.584)  (101.248) (98.713)  (438.269)
Exchange adjusiment (204,295) (2.410) (10.812) (3.336) (220.853)
At 30 Sepiember 2021 and a1 ) October 2021 10,990,043 264,549 457,071 495,709 12,207,372
Charge for the year 6,443,617 152,182 311,501 282,176 7.189.476
Disposals (231.987) (76,539) (143.407) (258.348) (716.281)
Exchange adjustment 1.415.464 9.003 73.813 26,778 1,525,058
At 30 September 2022 18,611,137 349,195 698,978 $46,318 20,205,625
Net book amount
At 30 September 2022 47,439,545 160,140 423,810 398,372 48,421,867
At 30 September 2021 48.533.655 205.030 546.327 518923  49.803.935
Al 30 September 2020 52,020,412 201,426 551.698 576,953 53.350.489

The 10ta) cash outflow in the year in respect of lease payments associaled with right of use assets was £10,018,755 (202):

£6.236,288.

_ The right-of-use asscts consist of:

* buildings for warchouse space, offices and manufacturing facilities. Lease terms range from 2 to 20 years.

» plani and equipment are insignificant to 1he total leased assets portfolio.

* fixtures. fittings and compuler equipment are insignificant 10 the total leased assets porifolio.

» motor vehicles are insignificant 10 the toial leased assets portfolio.

Please refer (0 note 18 for details on lease liabitities.
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10 Right of use assetS (continued)

Fixtures,
fittings and
Land and computer ‘Motor
buildings  equipment vehicles Total

Company £ £ £ £
Cost
At | October 2020 3,611,823 33.969 207416 1,851,208
Additions - - 97.512 . 97512
Disposals (59,369) (3.063) (28,274) (90.706)
At 30 September 2021 and a1 ) Ociober 2021 3.552.454 30.906 276.654 1.860.014
Additions 1.505.162 5.805 32672 1.543.639
Disposals - - (72992) , (72.992)
At 30 September 2022 5,057,616 36,711 236,334 5,330,661
Accumulated depreciation

" At 1 Oclober 2020 300.950 9,368 87.397 397.725
Charge for the year 300,960 9.353 79418 389,731
Disposals - {3.063) (28,273) (31.336)
At 30 September 2021 and at 1 October 2021 601.920 15658 138,542 756,120
Charge for the year 390,763 10,340 72.123 473,226
Disposals - - {72.,992) (72.992)
At 30 September 2022 992,683 25,998 137,673 1,156,354
Net book amount - .
At 30 September 2022 4,064;933 10,713 98,661 4,174,307
At 30 September 2021 2,950,534 15,248 138,912 3.101.8%4
At 30 September 2020 3.310.863 24,601 120,019 3.455.483

The total cash outflow in the year in respect of lease payments associated with right of use assets was £2.049.260 (2021:

£1.945421.

The right-of-use assets consist of:

¢ buildings for warehouse space, offices and manufacturing facilities. Lease terms range from 4 10 17 years.
o fixwres, fittings and computer equipment are insignificant to the to1al leased assets portfolio.

¢ molor vehicles are insignificant Lo the total leased assets ponfolio.

Please refer to nole 18 for details on lease liabilities.

°



S

Almac Group Limited 4

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

11 Goodwill

Group : ' £
Cost )

As | October 2020 , C , 87.746.26}
Exchange adjustment . . (1.5¢1.360)
At 30 September 2021 and a1 | October 2021 . ' 86.234.901
Exchange adjustment ) ’ . 6.330.320
At 30 September 2022 . . 92,565,221

Accumulated amortisation and impairment : .
At | October 2020, at 30 September 2021, at | October 202) and at 30 September 4,910,114

2022

Net book amount

At 30 September 2022 . 87,655,107

At 30 September 2021 81,324,787

Al 30 September 2020 . : ' 82,836,147
Clinical Services

£66,871,044 (2021 £60,593,044) of goodwill relates to the group’s clinical services business. The group's clinical services -
business. comprising clinical services businesses in Almac Group (UK) Limited and Almac Group Incosporated, is regarded as
a cash-generating unit (CGU). The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use calculations. These
calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management and covering a five year
period. Growth rates of 2% to 8% (2021: 2 10 8%) with a consistent gcoss margin were used for the five year period. Cish Nows
heyond the five year period are established using estimated growth rates of 2% (2021: 2%). which reflects the group’s investment
strategy and expansion. Management determined budgeted gross marglm based on pasi performance and its expectations of
markel developments. The discount rate used of 11% (2021: Il%) is pre-tax and reftects specific risks relaling to the group.
There is sufficiem headroom in the impairment calculation.

POA Pharma Scandinavia AB

£12,829.615 (202): £)2,829.615) of goodwill relates 1o the Group's acquisition of POA Pharma Scandinavia AB (“POA™). a
100% subsidiary of Galen Limited incorporated in Sweden. This company is also considered 10 be 3 CGU. The recovérable
amount was determined based on a value-in-use calculation which incorporates pre-tax cash flow projeclions based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year persiod. Cash flows beyond 1he five-year period are
extrapolated using sn estimated growth rate. Key assumptions applied in this review were as follows:

The rate of forecast sales growth which is on average 14%:
Gross margin assumption of ¢50%;

' Long term growth rate of 2%: and
An applied pre-tax discount rate of 7.7%.

Our modelling shows thai forecast sales can fall shorl by approximately 12% in cach year before an impairment would be
required. Should forecast sales drop by 15% in each year an impairment of £2.7m would be required.

Our modelling also shows that forecasi gross margins can drop by approximately 6% before an impairment would be required.
. Should forecast gross margins reduce by .7.5% an impairment of £2.3m would be required.

Other goodwill
The remaining £7.954.448 (2021: £7,907.197) of goodwill relates to smaller acqunsmons made by the Group. Managemt.m
considers the cecoverabie amount of each business (0 be no less than the carrying value of goodwill.
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12 Other intangible assets

Product Co;npuler
licences _ software Total
Group £ £ £
Cost
At 1 October 2020 30,011,167 80.329.191 110,340,258
Additions 168.015 8,501,737 - 8.669.752
Disposals - (45.836) (45.836)
Exchange adjustment (254,164) (1.013,145) (1.267.309)
At 30 September 2021 and at | October 202) 29,925,018 87,77!,947 117,696,965
Additions ’ ) 1.231.839 7.877,347 9.109.186
Disposals (4.729.288) (106,542) (4.835.830)
Exchange adjustment 1.039.097 5.017.699 6,056.796
Al 30 September 2022 27,466,666 100,560,451 128,027,117,
Accumulated amortisation .
At 1 Ociober 2020 26,712,280 55.465.817 82.178.097
Amontisation in the year 731,365 7,448,869 8.180.234
Disposals . (17.236) (17.236)
_ Exchange adjustment (152.858) (782.354) (935.212)
Al 30 September 2021 and a1 | October 2021 27,290,787 62,115.096 89.405.883
Amortisation in the year ' A 1,621,376 8.324.952 -9.946.328
Disposals (4.728.691) (106.540) (4.835,231)
Exchange adjustment 965.05 l 438,519 5.103.570
At 30 September 2022 25,148,523 74,472,027 99,620,550
Net book amount
Al 30 September 2022 2,318,143 26,088,424 28,406,567
A1 30 September 202) 2,634,234 25,656,851 28,291.082
At 30 September 2020 3,298,887 24.863.374 28.162.261
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Notes to the ﬁnéncial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

12 Other intangible assets (continued)

Computer
software
Company . R
Cosl
At | October 2020 7.033,535
Additions 2.277.865
Disposals . (33.,000)
At 30 September 202t and at 1 October 202t 9,278,400
Additions 491.090
At 30 September 2022 9,769,490
Accumulated amortisation
. Al | October 2020 5.708.289
Amortisation in the ycar 633,772
Disposals ) (4.400)
At 30 September 2021 and at 1 October 2021 6.337.661
Amortisation in the year 757.343
At 30 September 2022 7,095,004
Net beok amount
At 30 September 2022 2,674,486
At 30 Scpiember 2021t 2.940.739
At 30 September 2020 1,325,246
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13  Investments in subsidiaries

Compoany £

Cost .. .

At 1 October 2020. 30 September 2021 and | October 202) "7 177368916
- Disposals ' ‘ (8.245)

At 30 September 2022 . _ 177,360,671

Provisions for impairment ] o AN .

At | Ociober 2020, 30 September 2021 and.1 October 202} ‘ . 1.692.057

Reversal of impairment : . (8,245)

A130 September 2022 . 1,683,812

N

Net book amount
At 30 September 2022 ] 175,676,859

At 30 September 2021 : 175,676,859

. At 30 September 2020 - . 175,620913
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13  Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Investmens in subsidiary undertakings ace recorded at cost. which is the fair value of the considcration paid, less any
provisions for impairments. The subsidiarics of the group at 30 September 2022 and at 30 September 2021 were:

pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies

. Country of .
Noame incorporstion Nature of business Direct Indirect
. Almac Discovery Limited Northemn Ieeland'  Discovery and developmeni .
: of innovative approaches lo 100% .
. Ihe reatment of cancer
Almac Diagnostic Services Limited Norhern Iretand'  Development of cancer % 99%
‘ diagnostics and microarray
based data analysis
" Almac Diagnostic Services LLC United Statesof  Development of cancer - 100%
' America™ diagnostics and microarray
hased data analysis
Almac Sciences Limited Northern Ireland’  Provision of cusiom chemical 100%
. synthesis servites
Almac Sciences LLC Uniled Siates of Provision of custom chemical - 100%
America'? synthesis secvices
Almac Sciences (Scotland) Limited Scotlang” Provision of custom chemical - 100%
synthesis services
Almac Clinical Services Limited Northern Irefand'  Provision of services lo . 100%
pharmaceutical and
- biotechnology companics
Almac Chinical Services LLC Uniled States of  * Provision of services to - 100% -
America® pharmzceutical and . ‘
. biotechnology companies
Almac Clinical Technotogies LLC United Statesof . Mansgemeat of clirical trials . 100%
‘ Americal drug supply
Almac Clinical Technologies Limited Northem (relond' . Management of ctinical trials - 100%
. . drug supply ‘
Almac Pharma Services Limited Northern Ireland'  Manufacture of 100%
: pharmaceutical products :
Almac Pharma Services LLC United States of  Manufactere of 100%
. . America' pharmaceutical products '
Galen Limited Northemn Jreland'  Distribution and sate of 50% 50%
: . ' . pharmaceutical products
Almac Central Management LLC United Siates of ~ Central administrative 100%
America'? services for the US group .
Almac Pharmaceutical Services PT! Singapore? " Provision of services to - 100%
Ld : pharmaceutical and :
’ . biotechnology companies
Almac Pharmaceutica) Services KK Japon® Provision of services lo - 100%
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13 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

biotechnology companies

Counlry of
Name incorporation _  Nature of business Direct Indirect
Almac Group (Asia) PTE Ltd Singapore? Holding company 100% -
Almec Group (UK) Limited Northern trelond'  Holding compeny 100% -
Almac Group Incorporated United States of Holding company 100%
America'®
Almac (No. 2) Limited Northem Ireland!  Dormani company 100% -
Galen US tncorporated . United States of Distribution and sale of - 100%
America*® pharmaceutica? products
Novis Pharma Limited Nonhemn Ircland'  Dormant company - 100%
Napsco Limited Northern Ireland ! Dormant company - 100%
CTS Analyticat Limited Northemn Ireland'  Dorimant company - 100%
Syngal Limited Northern [seland®  Dormant company - 100%
Quchem Limited Northem lselsnd'  Dormant company - 100%
Almgc Diagnostics (2004) Limited Nonhern lreland'  Docmant company . 100%
Almac Trustees Limited Northem Ireland'  Holding company . 100%
2007 Gal Limited Nonhem Ireland'  Dormani company - 100%
InterGal Pharma Limited Nortkern freland'  Oormont company - 100%
~ Almac (No. 1) Limited Northem Ireland'  Dormani company 100%
Nelag Limited Northern Ireland' D company . 100%
Chasgelink Limited England® Dormant company . 100%
Galen Pharmaceuticals Limited England® Dormant company - 100%
Galen Heatiheare Limited England® Dormant company - 100%
Galen Rhodes Limited England® Dormant company " 100%
Galen Specialty Pharma US LLC Unitcd States of Dormant company 100%
America'®
_Almac Really Holdings L1.C United Siates of Holding company 100%
America'®
Clinical Trial Services [ncorporated United States of Dormant company 100%
Amecica*'
Appilied Clinical Concepts Incorporated  United States of Dormant company . 100%
. America®
Armran Chemical Company Limited Repubdlic of Monufecture of - 100%
Ireland? pharmaceutical products
Ventureland Limited Republic of Oormant company - 100%
Ireland?
Almac Pharm Is Group (lreland)  Republic of Holding company 100%
Limited . treland?
Almac Phacma Services (irefand) Republic of Provision of services to . 100%
Limited freland® pharmaceutical and
N biotechnology companies
Almac Clinical Services (lreland) Republic of Provision of services to - 100%
Limited freland® pharmaceutical and .
biotechnology companices
Bioclin Research Laboratories Limited  Republic of Dormant Company - 100%
Ireland*
Almac Sciences (reland) Limited Republic of Provision of services 10 . 100%
Ircland* pharmaceutical and
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-

13 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Country of
Nome fncorporation Nature of business Direct Indirect
Camia (No.)) Pharma lreland Limited Republic of - Provision of sesvices 1o . 100%
Ireland pharmaceutical and
biotechnotogy companics
POA Pharma Scandinavia AB . Swedcn"! Distribution and sale of . 100%
pharmaceutical products
"The registered office of these entitics is Almac House. 20 Seagoe Industrial Estate, Craigavon BT63 5QD
*The registered office of these catitics is Units 1-3 Monksland Indusirial Estate, Athlone, Co. Roscommon, N37 DN24
*The registeced office of these enthies is Finnabair Industrial Estate, Dundatk Co. Louth. A91 POKD
*The registered office of these entities is Riverside One, Sir lohn Rogerson's Quay, Dublin 2. D02 X576
*The registered oflice of this emity is Suite 2, Siafford House, Sirand Road, Partmarnock Co Dublin, D13 H525
“The registeced office of these entities is Broadwalk House. S Appold Street, London, EC2A 2HA
The registered office of these entitics is Lee & Lee, 50 Raffles Place, #60-00, Singapure Land Tower, Singapore, 048623
*The registered office of this entity is Tokyo Club Building. 11F, 3.2-6 Kasumigaski. Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 100-0013
PThe cegisteced office of this entity is 4th Floor, Saltire Court, 20 Castle Terrace, Edinburgh, Lothian, EH1 2EN
'°The registered office of these entities is Corporalion Service Company. 2711 Centreville Rd, Suite 400, Wilmington,
Delaware. DE 19808 . .
The segisiered office of this entity is CSC, 103 Foulk Road, Suite 103, Witmiagton. DE 19803 - 3742
""The registered office of this entity is 011 Allen Building, Durham. NC 27708 ’
"“The registered office of this entity is Ebbe Lieberathsgatan 21, 40022 Goienborg. Box 24026, Sweden
“The registered office of this entity is IDA Business and Technology Park Gamrycastle. Athlonc. Co. Westmeath N37 X061,
{reland
14  Deferred income tax
The gross movement on the deferred income 1ax account is as follows:
Assets Liabilities Total
2022 . 2021 2022 2021 + 2022 2021 °
‘Group * £ £ : £ £ £ £
At | Ociober 694,165 706.543 (22,989.688) (12,960496) (22,295,523) (12,253.953)
Exchange adjustment - (407 (1,489,158) 54,456  (1,489,158) 54,049
Charged 10 the income (173,362) (11.971)  (6,480,117) - (10.083.648) (6,653,479)  (10.095.619)
slatement .
At 30 September 520,803 694,165  (30,958,963) (22.939.688) (30,438,160) (22.295.523)
2022 2024
Company . £ . £
At 1 October (1,111,857) i (98.410)
Charged 10 the income statement (884,676) (1.013,447)
A1 30 September (1,996,533) (1.111.857)
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14 Deferred income tax (continued)

The mavement in deferred income tax assets and liabilitics during the year, without taking into considerution the offsetting of

batances within the same 1ax jurisdiction is as follows:

Accelerated Other
capital Tax temporary
, ) allowances losses differences Total .
Group - deferred tax (labilities)/assets £ £ £ €
At | Oclober 2020 (19.799.399) 2.995.990 4.549.456  (12.253.953)
Charged to the income statement (7.397.872) (723130} (1.974.617y (10,095,619
Exchange agjusiments - " 54,049 . 54.049
At | Oclober 2021 (27.197.271) 2.326.909 2.574.839  (22.295.523)
Charged to the income statement {5.462,594) . (90,989) (1,099,896} (6.653.479)
Exchange adjustments - (1.489.158) - (1.489,158)
At 30 September 2022 (32,659,865) 746,762 1,474,943  (30,438,160)
Other  Accelerated
temporary  capital
N differences’  allowances Total
Company - deferred tax liahilities £ £ £
At | Oclober 2020 (845.063) 746.653 (98.410)
Charged to the income statement (356.334) (657.113) (4.013.447)
At | October 2021 (1.201.397) 89.540 (1.411.85)
Crediled/(charged) 10 the income statemenm 136.791 (1.021.467)  (884.676)
AL 30 September 2022 - (1,064,606) (1,996,533)

(931,927)



Almac Group Limited s2

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

14 Deferred income tax (continuqd)

The analysis of delerred 1ax assets and delesred tax liabititics is as follows:

Group . Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £
Deferred tax assets: .
- 10 be recovered aftcr more than {2 months 520,803 694,165 - 89.540
) 520,803 694.165 - 89.540
Deferred tax liabililics: ] ’
- 1o be recovered after more than 12 months. (30,958,963) (22.989.688) (1,996.533.) (1.201.397)
{30,958,963) (22.989.688) (1,996,533  (1.201.397)
Deferred tax liabilities — net (30,438,160) (22.295.523) (1,996,533) (1.111.857)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent thal the realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable
benefils is probable. Deferred income tax assets not recognised are comprised as follows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £
Acceleraled capital allowances 27413 271413 27,413 27,413
Tax losses 4,048,540 4,391,513 l - :
Other temporary dil{erences : 279,314 279.314 - 2
4,355,267 4,698.240 27413 27,413

No deferred 1ax asset has been recognised in relation 10 the above as in the opinion of the directors it may not be recoverable in
the foresecable future. The potential deferred 1ax asseis will be recognised when it can be regarded as more likely than not thal

there will be sufficient taxable profits from which the tax losses, accelerated capital allowances and other temporary differences
can be deducted. ‘

15 Inventories

2022 2021

Group £ £
Raw materials . . 16,769,603 14,367,562
Waork in progress . 1,644,238 1.969.578
Finished goods 10,519,533 11,096,462
28,933,374 27.433.,602

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost of sales amounted to £247.249,590 (2021: £174,.763.610).

Inventory is stated aficr a provision of £4.570.156 (2021: £4,698.297). During the year £680,112 of inventory provisions were

reversed as they were not used (2021; £565.732) and inventory wrilten off in the financia) year amounted to £ai) (2021: £ni).
The amount reversed has been included in cosi of sales.

+
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16 - Trade and other receivables

Group © Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

Current ) £ £ £ £
Trade receivables - 192,960,500 135.689.953 - -
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables (3,290,320) (2.225.006) . - -
Trade receivables (net) 189,670,180 133.464.947 . -
Amounts owed by group undentakings (note 30) ' . - - 302,633,088 251.576.645
Group relief reccivable : . - - - 1.731:618
"Finance lease receivables , - - 1,106,665 1.071.274
Other receivables 8,847,676 7.346.567 1,221477 811.894
Prepayments and accrued income 49,492,245 35,856,824 4,796,554 4,038,365

248,010,601 176,668,338 309,763,784 259,229,796

Trade receivables includes an amount of £4.163,75] (2021: £3.621.359) in respect of receivables subject 0 i_hvoice discounling.

The fair values of trade and other receivables are nol malerially different from (heir carrying value. For the purposes of [FRS ¢
“Financial insiruments™, all of the group's and company’s {inancial assets are classified as measured al amortised cost.

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
Non-current . £ £ £ . £

Ftnance lease receivables . . - 10,885,739 11,992.404

The finance lease receivables arise in respect of leases of property (o other group underiakings. The lease receivable under
these lease agreements are shown in the 1able below:

~

2022 2021
£ P

Receivable in: : '
2022 . 1.472.568
2023 ; 1,472,568 1,472,568
2024 ' 1,472,568 1.472.568
2025 . . ' 1,472,568 1.472.568
2026 ' : 1,472,568 1.472.568
2027 i 1,472,568 1,472,568
Thereafter - 6,501,844 6.501,843
Subtotal 13,864,684 - 15,337,254
Less: future interest income _ (1,872,280) (2,273.573)

11,992,404 13.063.678
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.16  Trade and other receivables (continued)

s . : . A
The carrying amount of the group's and company's trade and other receivables ane denominated in the following currencices:

Group . Company

2022 202) 2022 2021

£ £ £ £

Currency .
UK pound sterling 100,771,984 49.940.836 164,071,693 111,069,201
US doltar . 126,367,837 108,689,892 140,730,994 $30.909.544
Euro ' 17,997,559 14,781,046 10,480,362 26,535,652
Swiss Franc 939,011 368,256 - -
Singapore dollar . 1,384,955 2,036,905 4,602,637 4.630.441

Japanese yea ‘ * 549,255 851,403 763,837 1.077.362 .
: 248,010,601 176.668.338 320,649,523  271.222.200

The maximum exposure 1o credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of cach class of receivable above.

Trade receivables are presented after a provision for impairment at 30 September 2022 of £3.290,320 (2021: £2.225,006). The
individually impaired receivables mainly relate to invoices for which there is uncertainty oves recoverability, It was assessed

that a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The trade receivables that were impaired were al) overduc by
more than two months. .

Mavements on the pravision for impairment of trade receivahles and amounts owed by group company are as follows:

Group Company

2022 2021 . 2022 2021

£ £ £ £

At the beginning of the year 2,225,006 2,083,042 40,002,170 36.179.737
Exchange adjustment " 334,893 61.291) ‘ 4,280,610 -
Provision for receivables impairment 1,049,811 965,535 4,077,591 ~ 4.080.528
Receivables written off during the year as uncollec(nble (212,174) (158.3117) - -
Unused amounts reversed (107,216) (603,964) (630,686) (258.095)
At the epd of the year 3,290,320 2.225.006 47,729,685 40,002,170

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in administrative expenses in the income
slatement.

The group has recognised the following assets relating 10 contracts with customers ((hese are all included wn(hm accryed
mcome)

2022 2021

£ £

Contract assets recognised at start of the period . ) 20,276,696  20.166.405
Revenue recogaised in prior periods that was invoiced in the current peciod (19.760.835) (19.611.533)
:;:c;::ls recoganised in revenue in the current period that will be invoiced in future 30,887,020 19.738.860
Exchange adjustments E . 46,046 (17.036)
Balance at the end of the period : . 31,448,927 20.276.696

Conlract assets are expected to be invoiced in the year to 30 Seplember 2023,
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16 Trade and other receivables (continued)

The comp:my applies the IFRS 9 simplificd approach (o mcasuring cxpected credit losses which vses a hreumc expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables and contract assels.

To measure the expected credit losses. trade receivables and coniract assets have been grouped- based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate 1o unbilled work in progress and have substantially the same risk

characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The group has therefore concluded that the expecied toss
" rates for trade receivables are a reasonablc approximation of the loss ratcs for the conteact assets.

The expcclcd loss rates are based on the paymem profiles of sales over a pcnod of 12 mambs before 30 September and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reftect current and
forward looking information on macroeconomic factors aﬂ'eclmg the ability of the customers to setile the receivables. On that
basis, the loss alfowance as at 30 September 2022 was deemed 1o be not matecially different to that provision carried under (AS
39. The default rate on receivables is Jess than 1%, (2021: 1%).

The group applies the practical expedient in IFRS 9 (which allows the group to measure impairment using the 12 month Expected
Credit Loss model} in respect of amouats owed by group undectakings. for those batances that meet the following requisements:

* ithasa low risk of default:

° lhc counterparty is considered, in the short term. to have a strong capacny to meet its obligations in the neas tesm: and

o ihc group expects, in the longer term, that adverse changes in economic and business conditions mlghl but_ will not
necessarily. reducc the ability of the counterparty to fulfil its obligations.

For those balances where there is a higher risk of default the group follows the 3 stage approach within IFRS 9 to determine
lifetime expected credit losses.

17  Cash and cash equivalents -
Group : Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

£ ’ £ £ £

Cash a1 bank and in hand 78,449,560  108.170,997 34,675,026 67.382.349

Short term deposits . - 30,341,286 6.9(7.847 25,002,603 - -
108,790,846  115.088.844 59,677,629 67.382.349

Cash and cash equivalents include the foMowing for the purposes of the cash flow statement:

Group . Company
2022 202t 2022 202)
£ B S £
Cash and cash equivalenis . 108,790,846 315,088,844 5§9,677,629 67.382.349

Bank overdralts (note 18) _ ’ (135,831) (77.796) . -
: 108,655,018 115.011.048 59,677,629 67.382.349
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18 Borrowings

Group Company
) 2022 2021 2022 2021
Current £ £ £ . £
Bank overdrafts - secured ) 135,831 77.796 - -
Bank loans - sccured (a) 2,249,561 2.172.685 1,423,000 1.380.873
Amounts owed (0 group undenakings (b) .- . 378,376,169 324.037.051
Finance lcasc obligations 14,585 30.162 - -
Lcase liabilitics arising from IFRS 16 6,590,683 6,651.608 1,568,020 - 1,422,030
: 8,981,660 8.932.251 381,367,189 126,839,954
Group Company
2022 202) 2022 . 2021
Non-current £ £ £ £,
Bank loans - secured (a) ' 10,924,967 13,173,633 9,866,803 1.1.297 9i0
Amounis owed to group undertakings (b) ' . - 1,740,001 2,610,001
Finance tease obligations 9,584 24.170 . .
Lease liabilities arising from IFRS 16 49,398,535 49 686,350 14,885,538 - 15.016.625
. 60,333,086 62884153 26,492,342 28.924,536
‘Total borrowings ) 69,314,746 71.816,404 407,859,531 355.764,490

(a) Bank loans consist of the following amounts which refer to loan agreements entered into in 2011 (amended in 2012, 2013

and 2016 and 2019):

Group:

(i) A loan of £4.0m advanced in October 2019. This foan is repayable over 20 quanters commencing January 2020 and

interest is charged at a fixed rate.

Group and company:

(ii} A loan of £7.5m. This loan is repayable over 20 quarters commencing January 2020 and interest is charged at a fixed

rale.

(iii) A loan of £7.5m. This loan is repayable over 20 quarters commencmg January 2020 and interest is charged at Bank

of England Base Rate (BOEBR) plus a macgin.

The ahove loans are secured against current ‘and non-current assels within the group.
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18 Borrowings (continued)
(b) Company:

(i) £377.506.169 (2021: £323.167.052) is owed to group undertakings. lnterest is charged at a published interest
reference rate which varies depending on currency. such as Bank of England Base Ratc (BOEBR). plus a margin,
and the loans are repayablc on demand.

(ii) £2.610.00) (2021: £3.480.000) is owed to Galen Limited. lntercsl is charged at LIBOR plus a margin. The loan is
being repaid in annual instalments which commenced in August 2018 and are due 0 end in Scpiember 2025.

Finance leascs are secured on the assets 1o which they relate.

The fair value of both current and non-current borrowings equals their carrying amount as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

For the purposes of IFRS 9 “Financial instruments™. the financial liabilities noted above are measured at amortised cost,

The carrying amount of the group’s and the company’s borrowings is denominated in the following currencies:

r ’

Group . Company

2022 2021 - 2022 2021

£ £ £ £

UK pound sterling . 32,653,132 38.025.495 300,946,948 - 281.183.282
US dollar ' 24,165,188 21,432.798 102,426,447 68.835.390
Euro 10,250,967 9.395.7713 4,486,136 5.745.818
Singapore dollar 1,380,023 1.619.645 . : -
Japanese yen ' 865,236 1,342,693 - -

69,314,746 71.816.404 407,859,531 355,764,490

The effective intecest rales al.lhc balance sheet date were as follows: . : 2022 2021

. . . % %
Bank overdralts ' : 1.75-4.73 1.75-225
Variable rate loans R 4.29 1:50 - 2.50
Fixed rate loans ) . ., 293 2.00 -4.00
Finance leases : ; ' 5.46 0.00- 13.50
Lease liabitities arising from IFRS 16 . L67-516 - 250-3.50

Please refer to note 10 for details on right of use assets in respect of lease liabilities.
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18 Borrowings (continued) .

Maturity of financial liabilities

“The maturity profile of the carrying amount of non-curcent borrowings ai 30 September was as follows:

Loans and :
bank Financelease IFRS 16 lease Totul
overdrafts abligations liabilities 2022
Group £ . £ £ £
In more than 1 year but not more than 2 years 2,305,013 8.304 6.569.438 8,882,855
In more than 2 years but not more than 5 years 8.619.854 1,280 " 1410961 23,332,095
In more than 5 years ’ - - 28,118,136 28,118,136
10,924,967 9,584 49,398,535 60,333,086
, Loans and
bank  Finance lease  IFRS 16 lease Total
overdeafts obligations tiabilitics 2021
Group : £ £ £
{n more than | year but not more than 2 years 2,216.484 14,585 6,484,089 8.735.158
[n more than 2 years but not more than § years 10,937.149 9.585 14.516.631 25.463.365
fn more than § ycars - . 28.685.630 28.685.630
13,173,633 . 24,170 49686350 - 62.884.153
Amounts
owed to IFRS 16
Bank and group lease
other loans undertakings liabilities Total
2022 2022 2022 2022
Company £ £ £ £
ln more than one year bul ng'l more than 1.461.846 870.000 1.522.187 3,854,033
two years
In more than two years but aot more '
than five years 8.404.957 870.001 4,609.620 13.334.578
In more than five years . . 8753731 8,753,731t
) 9,866,803 1,740,001 14,885,538 26,492,342
Amounis .
owed to IFRS 16
Bank and group lease
other loans  undertakings liabilities Total
2021 2021. 2021 2021
Company £ . £ £ £
fn more than onc year but not more 1.418.924 870,000 1445157 3.734.081
than two ycars
{n more than two years but not more 9878986  1.740.001 4259443 15878430
than five years .
In more than five years - ' - 9.312,026 9.312.026
11.297.910 2610001 15,016.626 28.924,537
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18 Borrowings (continued)

The amounts included in the tables below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of curreny and non-current borrowings.

Finance IFRS 16
Bank and leuse lease
other lpans  obligations liabilities Total
2022 2022 - 2022 2022
Group £ £ £ €
[n less than one year 2,733,618 15.491 8.44).584 11,190,693 -
In more than onc year bul not more 2,568,892 8.599 8,228.594 * 10,806,085
than two years : B
In more than 1wo years but not mare 8.693.897 1,289 18.595.208 27,290,394
than five years
tn more than five years - 32.152911 32,182,911
13,996,407 25,379 67,418,297 81,440,083
. Finance IFRS 16
Bank and lease lease
other loans  obligations lizbilities Total
2021 2021 2021 2021
Group £ £ £ £
In less than one year 2.552.658 32313 8.443.196 11,033,167
[n more than one year but not more than two years 2,561.599 15,492 8.148.983 10,726,074
In more than two years but nol more than five years 11.254.855 9.888 18,165.803 29.430.546
In more than five years . . 32.204.16) 32.204.161
16,374,112 57.693 66,962,141 83,391,948
Amounts
Bank and owed to IFRS 16
other group lease
loans undertakings tiahilities Total
2022 | 2022 2022 2022
Company £ £ £ £
In less than one yenr' 1.724.632 394,933,551 2.065.380 398,723,563
In more than one year but not more than two ycars 1.700,962 915,288 1.970.277 4.586.527
{n more than two years but not more than five ycars 8.459,144 915.289 5.659.584 15,034,017
In more than five years .. - 9,522,006 9,522,006
11,884,738 396,764,128 19,217,247 427,866,113
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18 Borrowings (continued)

Amounts .
owed to IFRS16
Bank and ' group . lease
other loans  undertakings tiabiligies Total
2021 . 2021 2021 2021
Company £ £ £ £
In less than one year .1.690,545 324,125,055 1.927.45]) 327.743.05)
in more than one year but not more than two years 1695337 935.820 1,904,643 4,535.800
. In more than two years bul no1 more than five years 10,172,028 1,805,820 5.361.808 17.339.656
[n more than five years - . 10.252,078 10,252.078

13.552.910 326.866.695 19.445.980 359.870,585

19 Trade and other payables

Group . Company
2022 202) 2022 202t
£ £ ‘€ £
Trade payables 38,792,925 33,985.037 541 821 2,961,553
Amounts owed 10 group undenakings . . 11,631,283 11,543,793
Other ax and social security 5,994,286 4,7931.643 1,596,989 666,277
Other creditors " 10,986,400 8.349.725 - ’ -
Accruals and delerred income - 101,698,457 83,510,943 8,359,845 6,821,349
Group relicf payable ' - - 749,408 -
) 157,472,068 130,639,148 22,879,346 21.994,972

The {air values of trade and other payables are not materially different from their carrying values as the impact of discounting is

not significant. There is no material difference between the’amounts shown above and the total coatractual undiscounted cash
Nows of trade and other payahles.

For the purposcs of IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” the financial liabilitics noted above are classified as measured al amortised
cosl. ' :

The group has recognised the following liabilities relating to contracts with customers (these are all included with deferred
income):

2022 2021
£ £
Contract liabilities recognised at siart of the year 17593472 13.659.889
Amounis invoiced in prior periods recognised as revence in the current period (13,760,282)  (11.314.611)
Amounts invoiced in the current period which will be recognised ,:ss revenue in laicr periods 12,984,146 15.296.323
Exchange adjusiments . 24,302 (48.129)
Balance at the end of the year 16,841,638 17593472

Contrac liabilities are expected to be recognised as revenue within 12 months of the period end.
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20 Deferred income

Group~ Company
Government and other grants £ £
At | Oclober 2020 ) 17.838.505 243
Capilal and other grants received during the year 3.358.236 -
Released to the income statement ‘ . (2.318.559) 97
Exchange adjusiment » . 4 104,142 -
At 30 September 202} and 2t | Ociober 2021 - 18.982.324 446
Capital and other granis received during the year . , 2,789.638 -
Released 10 the income statement .(2'347'345{ (298)
Exchange adjustment ) . 171.035 -
At 30 September 2022 ) . 19,595,652 148
The maturity profite of the carrying amount of deferred income, at 30 September was as follows:
Group Company
2022 2021 . 2022 2021
e £ £ £
Less than one year ; 2,288,427 2.249.296 148 - 298
In more than one year bul not more than two years 1,967,193 2,024,189 - 148
In more than two years but not more than five years 6,600,504 6.491.957 ' . .
Later than five years . . 8739528 8.216.882 - .
19,595,652 18.982.324 148 446
21 Other non-current liabilities
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
. £ £ £ L
Accruals . 17,215,671 15.383.139 1,948,796 2,023,584
Maturity of non-current liabilities
The malurity profile of the carrying amount of nan-current liabilities at 30 September was as follows:
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £
In more than one year but not more than two years -7,329,896 6.073.882 960,222 1.042917
In more than 1wo years but not more than five years 9,885,775 9,029,150 988,574 980.667
In more than live years . . 280.107 - -
17,215,671 15,383,139 1,948,796 2,023,584

There is no matenal difference beiween the amounts shown above and the tolal contractual undiscounted cash {lows of other

non-current liabilities.
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22 Provisions for liabilities and charges

Group Company
Private medica) claims and warranty provisions . £ £
At T October 2020 3877829
Charged to the income statement 1.281.481 -
Utilised during the year o (1.483,259) -
Exchange adjusiment - (172.348) -
At 30 Sepiember 2021 and a1 | October 2021 3,503,703 -
Charged 10 the income slatement - 2.666.667 500,000
Utilised during the year i (1.558.559) - -
Transfer from accruals and delerred income . 893,239
- Exchange adjustment 757.958 . -
AU30 September 2022 , 6,262,608 500,000

During the year il was identified that a provision of £893,239 was included within accruals and deferred income in the prior year and has
been reclassified as a provision in the financial statements.

The group opcralcs a self-insured medical plnn in respect of its-employees in the United States of America and has made
provision in these financial statemenis for employee medical claims which are known at the balance sheet date as well s those
which have been incurred but have nol yet been reported (subject to an actuarial valualion).

Provisions for liabilities and charges also include amounls for warranty payments 10 customers for which llmmg is uncertain at
1the balance sheet daje. .

See also contingent liability disclosed in note 28.

23 Share capital and share premium

Group and company i . ) 2022 2021

Authorised share capital ) £ £

139.999.999 (2021: 139,999.999) ordinary A shares of £1 each (2021: £1 cach) 139,999,999 139.999.999

10,000,000 (2021 10,000.000) class B non-voling ordinary shares of £1 each 10,000,000 10.000.000

(2021: £1 each)

) (2021:1) founder share of £1 (2021: £1 each) 1 |
150,000,000 150,000,000

The ordinary A shares, B shares rank pari passu in all respecis and enjoy the same rights and privileges save that the B shares
are non-voling. The Founder share has veto rights in a number of areas; however it docs not reccive an economic benefit from .
the group. All shares rank in full for dividends. .

Shaves of £1 each

. Class B :

Group and company Ordinary A | ordinary Founder Total
Allotted and fully paid and share capital £ £ £ £ .
At ! October 2021 13.534.728 1.761.583 I 15,296,312

At 30 September 2022 . 13,534,728 1,761,583 1 15,296,312
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23  Share capital and share premium (continued)

Share

premium

Group and company . £
At | Ociober 2021 _ ) ) ’ 173,911,921
At 30 September 2022 . : 173,911,921

24 Employee benefit trust

Under IFRS, an entity thai contrals an employee benefil trust is required by SIC 12 “Consolidalion - Speciai Purpose Enlities™
to consolidate that Trust. Accordingly the assets; liabilities and transactions of the Almac Employee Benefit Trust and the Almac
Offshore Employee Benefit Trust have been consolidated in these group financial statements. The Trusis are discretionary trusts
established for the benefit of employees and former employees of the company. including directors, and may be used to meet
obligations under the direction of the Trustecs. At 30 Sepiember 2022 no shares of the company were held by the Trusts.

25  Cash generated from operations

_ Group ‘ . Company
2022 2021 © 2022 2021
£ £ £ £
Profit/(loss) before income tax 96,659,132 80,782,394 1,153,238 (9,145.442)
Adjustments for: . ’ .
Finance income ) . (10,100,360) 9.254) ( 15,990,915) (7.199.926)
Finance cosls ] 2,646,005 9,370.422 /‘12,494.317 15.125.971
Depreciation of property, plani and equipment 26,141,063 22215816 1,979,424 1,198,440
Deprecialion of right of use assets 7,189,476 6.376.568 473,226 389.732
Amontisation of intangible assets 9,946,328 8,180.234 757,343 633.772
Research and development credit - (7,617,146) (5.863,441) . '
Provision against amounts owcd by group undenakings - - 3,446,905 - 3.822.433
‘ Fareign exchange gains ' (8,774,069 ) - - ‘ - -
Loss on disposal of propeny, plant and equipment ‘98,839 83,876 18,416 2,034
Loss on disposal of intangible asscts ’ 599 : - - -
Release of capilal grant (2,347,245) (2.318.559) (298) - (297)
Movement in inventories : . (876,666) 2,862314 - -
Movement in trade and other receivables . (52,205,362)  (18,505.057) (4,784,160) (15.576)
Movement in tradc and other payables 12,721,811 8,242,600 {6!8.048) (705,487

Net cash generated from/(used in) operations 73,482,305 - 111417913 (1,070,552) 4.105.654
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25  Cash generated from operations (continued)

Net debt - Group

Related Cash and
Other party . . cash .
Bank loans loans loans Leases Subtotal equivalents Total
' £ £ £ £ £ £
Nel debt as at ¢ ]
~ October 2020 (20.286.763) (205.746) (178.590) (59.637.t43) (80,308,242) - 72.550.08? (7,758,155)
Cash Mows 4934495 205746 - 178.590  .8.179.226  13,498,057. 41.554.614 57,052,671
Acqulsmons -~ leases - _' . (4.529.'09) (4’529'“)9) - (4529'109)
Other changes * 5950 - (405264)  (399314)  (1.093.653)° _(1492,967)
Nei debt as at 30 ’
September 202t and
1 October 2021 (15,346,318) - - (56,392,290) (71,738,608) 115,011,048 ?3,272.640
Cash flows 2,180,790 . - 10018755 12,199,545 ' (21.489.569)  (9,290,024)
Acquisiions - leases . (2,040,315) (2,040,315) . (2,040,315)
Other changes * R (7.59?.537) (7.599,53"7) 15,133,536 7,533,999
Net debt as at 30 :
September 2022 (13,165,528) - . (56,013387) (69,178915) 108,655015 39,476,100

*Onher changes includes interest charged and foreign exchange movements in the financial
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25 Cash generafcd from operations (continued)

Net debt — Company

Subtotal

Bank loans Other loans Intercompany Related party Leases Cash " Total
£. £ £ £ £ £ £

Net debt asat | .
October 2020 (16.622.700) (205.746) {283.453.884) (178.590) (17.736.038) (318,196,958) 29.294.120 (288,902,838)
Cash tows 3.943917 205.746 ° . (43.193.168) 178590 1.886.050 (36,978 ,865) 38.088.229 1,109,364
Acquisitions - . . . . (38.143) (38.143) ‘ . (38,43)
Other changes® - - - - (5505249) (550.524) - (550,524)
Net debt as at 30
September 2021 (12,678,783) . (326,647,052) - (16,438,653) (355,764,490) 67,382,349 (288,382,141) .
and 1 October 2021 . .
Cash flows 1.388.980 - (53.469.118) - 2.049.260 (50,030,878) (16.668.762) {66.699,640)
Acquisiians - . . . (1.543.639) (1,542,639 (1,543,639)
Other changes * - - - . (520524) (520,529) $.964.042 8,443,518
Net debt as at 30 p .
September 2022 (11,289,803) - (380,116,170) . (16,453,558) {407,859,531) 59,677,629 . (348,181,902)

*Other changes includes interest charged and foreign exchange movemenis in the financial year.
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26 Pension commitments

The group operates a defined contribution scheme far cmployees whereby the assets of the scheme are held separately from
thosc of the group in an independently adminisicred scheme. Pension costs for the defined contribution scheme were as

follows:
2022 2021
Group 3 £ £
Defined contribution scheme 10,459,980 -~  8.715.100
Amounts owed to Lhe pension scheme as at 30 Seplember 2022 totalied £1.678.765 (2021: £1.432.712).
. ' . 2022 2021
Company ’ : . £ £
Defined coniribution scheme - : 1,110,899 843.300
Amounts owed lo the pension scheme as at 30 Seplember 2022 totalled £182,337 (2021: £150.249).
27 Capital and other financial commitments
Contracis placed for future expenditure not provided in the financial stalements:
2022 2021
Group ) ) £ £
Propeny. plant and equipment 87,025,488 19,228,542
* . Intangible assets 6,925,959 1.626
Software as a service ’ : . - _ - 1.382.635
. 2022 2021
Company . £ £
Propenty. plant and equipment ) 57,925 400,436
Sofiware as a service 1,382,635

28 Contingencies

There exists a contingent liabilily to repay cenain capita and revenue grants received from Invest Northern (retand if future
employment levels fall below specified levels, The directors do not anticipate any repayment falling due under (he terms on

which the grants were received. ’

The group and company’s bank borro(vings arc secured by certain fixed and floaling charges over Lhe property assets and

undertakings of the company.

The group operales a self-insured medica plan in respect of its employees in the United States of America. The group has
made a provision in Ihese financial statements for employce medical claims which are known at the balance shect date as well
as those which have been incurred but have not yet been reported (subject 10 an actuarial valuation). The group has a stop-loss

insurance policy in place which limits individual claims (o $325,000 (2021: $325.000).
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29 Share-based payments

The group operates 3 phantom share scheme wheeeby share awards are granted to directors and senior managemeat employees.
The share award is granied for £nil consideration and is conditional on the director or employce continuing in cmployment for a
period of three years from the date the share award is made. which is the First of January following the financial year cnd. The
group accounts (or these share awards as cash-setited share-based payments which are measured at fair value and recognised as
an exgense in the income statement with a corresponding increase in liabilities (within accruals). The fair value is recognised
over the period during which cmployees become unconditionally entitled 10 the awards. subject 10 the group's.estimate of the
number of awards which will, lapse duc to employecs leaving the group prior to vesting. The total amoum recognised in the
income stalement as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual amouat of awards that are expecied 10 vest, except whese

forfeiture is due to employee's termination of conteact.

Sharc awards are cxercisable from the first of January, theee years following the award date. The share award is exercisable at
the share price a1 the end of the financial year when the shase is exercisabte, and all share awards are cash setticd.

The fair value of each share award granted, and the assumptions used in the calculation for the group and company are as

follows: ‘
Grant date’ . ) : 30 September 2022 -30 September 202)
Share price at gram date : . £2.050 £1.300
Number of cmployces - . ' 107 <107

. Share awards 1,064,367 1.753.534
Vesting peniod (years) q* 4*
Option life (years) : 4 4
Expected life (yéars) ) . 4 4
Fair value . ] £2.050 £1.300

*The vesting period is four years which is made up of the theee years from the date of issuc plus the ycar of service incurred in

order to be eligible for the award.
The we_igh(ed average fair value of share awards granted during the y::ir was £2.050 (2023: £1.300).

Movements in the number of share awards outstanding arc as follows: .

2022 2021 2022 2021

Group Group Company Company

. Number Number __Number Number

Outsianding at the beginning of the year 5,716,830 5.729,595 1,252,759 1.242,095
Granted . . 1,056,334 1,753,534 221,767 360,498
Foifeited  * (127,987) (56.643) . .
Exercised (2,086902)  (1.709.656)°  (507,084) (370617)
Ouistanding at the end of the ycar . 4,558275 °©  5.716,830 . 967,442 1.252,759
Exercisable an | January 2023/2022 1,899,188 1.938.738 407,777 427.994

The weighted average share price of share awards exercised in the year was £2.050 (2021: £1.300).
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29 Sharc-base;d payments (continued)

Share awards outstanding at the end of the year have the fotlowing cxpiry dates:

2022 2021 2022 2021

Group Group Compan.y Company

Number Number Number Number

2022 - 1.938.728 oo 427.994
2023 1,899,188, 2.055.156 401,117 458,147
2024 1,602,753 £,722.916 337,898 366.618
2025 1,056,334 - 221,767 -

The total expense recoénised in the group income stalcment was £4,508,214 (2021: £6,337.336). The group liability ai 30
September 2022 is £12,068.959 202 1: £9.940.397). The 1otal expensc recognised in the company income stalement was
£1.011.854 (2021: £),398.240). The company liability al 30 September 2022 is £2.511,736 (2021: £2.216.486).

30 Related party transactions

2022 2021

Group ) 3 £
lqteresl payable 10 related parties - 737
2022 202t

Company -transaclions £ £
Sales to group undertakings 53,630,450 44,655,308
Purchases from group undertakings (799,926) (630.811)
Interest reccivable (rom group undertakings 9,582,258 6.761.562
Intefest payable to group undertakings (11,310,188) (7.074.323)
2022 2021

Company - balances ) £ £
Amounts owed by group undenakings (*) 302,633,088 251.576.645
Amounts owed to group undenakings (391,747,453) (338.190.845)
_Group relicf (payable)/receivable (749408) 1.731.618

Dciails of amoums owed by and to relaled parties are disclosed in noles 16, 18 and 19 respectively. Details of interest payable

and receivable on relaied panty balances are disclosed in note 6.

(;) Amounis owed by group undenakings are siated after provisions of £47.729.685 (2021: £40.002.170).

Please cefer to note 7 for details on directors emoluments and key management disclosure.
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31 Ultimate controlling party and ultimate parent undertaking
Due (o a split of owncrship and control over the group there is not considered to bc an ultimate parent undestaking.

Almac Group Limited. a company incorporated in Northesn Iretand, is the parent undenaking of the largest and smallest group
of undertakings of which the company is a member and for which group financial statcmenis are prepared, The registered office
of Almac Group Limited is Almac House, 20 Seagoe Indusirial Estate. Craigavon, BT63 5QD.

During the period the ultimate controlling parnties were A D Armstrong, S Campbell, C Haybum, and J W lrvine. From ) January
2023, the ultimate controlling parties are A D Armstrong. S Campbell and J W Irvine. The McClay Foundation is a related pany
due 10 common dircclors.



